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NAVIGATING CHANGE, REFOCUSING CAPABILITIES
The theme “Navigating Change, Refocusing Capabilities” is 
embodied on the cover through a hand guiding dynamic, 
interconnected elements. It reflects our agility in adapting to a 
rapidly evolving ecosystem while sharpening our capabilities. 
The design symbolises innovation, strategic focus, and the 
ability to navigate complexity to unlock new opportunities.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

WHO WE ARE 
Avi-Tech Electronics Limited (which was renamed 
as Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd.) was incorporated 
in Singapore in 1981 and listed on the Mainboard of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
in 2007. Following the successful completion of our 
corporate restructuring exercise in December 2021, 
Avi-Tech Holdings Limited is our listed entity with 
Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd. as our wholly-owned 
subsidiary.

Starting as a provider of burn-in solutions, we 
have since expanded our capabilities to include 
manufacturing and printed circuit board assembly 
services and engineering services. Today, we are 
one of the leading total solutions providers for the 
semiconductor, electronics, and other industrial 
sectors.

OUR MARKETS 
Headquartered in Singapore, we serve global 
leaders including original equipment manufacturers 
and original design manufacturers across the 
semiconductor, automotive, networking, avionics, 
and industrial sectors. Our production facility 
supports printed circuit board manufacturing and 
assembly, advanced engineering and integration 
capabilities, as well as test and burn-in services. Our 
market presence has expanded beyond Singapore to 
Malaysia, Thailand, Vietnam, the Philippines, Taiwan, 
China, Japan, Europe and the United States. 

OUR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS 
Business excellence and quality assurance are of 
utmost importance in our business. We are proud to 
be one of a few local small medium enterprises to be 
conferred the prestigious Singapore Quality Award 
by the Enterprise Singapore SQA Governing Council 
for achieving a world-class standard of performance 
excellence which reaffirms our strong credentials 
in the international market. We also received the 
Singapore Quality Class award from the Singapore 
Economic Development Board (“EDB”) (formerly 
SPRING Singapore) and were awarded the EDB 
Enterprise 50 Awards (Ranking: 1st). In addition, we 
have achieved ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certifications.

For more information, please visit our website 
www.avi-tech.com.sg
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

MANUFACTURING AND PRINTED CIRCUIT 
BOARD ASSEMBLY (“PCBA”) SERVICES 
We engage in the design, manufacture and assembly 
of a wide range of Burn-In boards and Automatic 
Test Equipment/Load boards for the various types of 
Burn-In systems as well as boards for other types of 
reliability tests such as High Temperature Operating 
Life Test and Highly Accelerated Stress Test. We are 
qualified and licensed to build Burn-In boards for 
high power devices. In addition, we provide industrial 
imaging and diagnostic solutions, design printed 
circuit boards and provide niche PCBA Services for 
the medical, mobile communications, optics and 
aviation industries. We are constantly challenging 
ourselves to raise our competencies in board design 
and manufacturing, and assembly capabilities to 
meet the dynamic and increasingly sophisticated 
customer requirements.

ENGINEERING SERVICES 
We provide comprehensive engineering solutions 
spanning design, development, outsourced 
manufacturing, and system integration for 
semiconductor equipment, lab automation, and 
robotics. Our services also include design-for-
manufacturability improvements that help customers 
optimise performance and efficiency. Our expertise 
covers specialised integration projects, distribution 
of third-party testers and the development of 
hardware for applications in sectors such as 
healthcare, logistics, and building maintenance. As 
part of our portfolio, we continue to support Test 
and Burn-In Services to meet the reliability needs of 
semiconductor devices.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2



NAVIGATING CHANGE, 
UNLOCKING SMART  
TRANSFORMATION 



CORPORATE MILESTONES AND
TRACK RECORD

1990 – 1999
•	 Expanded our business to include the provision of engineering services to design 

and build semiconductor Burn-In Systems

•	 Formed a strategic alliance with Motay Electronics (which was acquired by Unisys 
Corporation, a US company providing system integration, network engineering, 
project management, and technical support services)

•	 Extended our capabilities to provide Tape and Reel Services to semiconductor 
manufacturers

•	 Relocated to our own facility with a total built-up area of approximately 
12,000 sq.m. and equipped with advanced Burn-In Systems, many of which were 
designed and fabricated in-house

•	 Awarded by the Economic Development Board with the Singapore’s Enterprise 50 
No. 1 ranking in recognition of our business excellence

2000 – 2010
•	 Expanded our services to provide distribution of third-party burn-In and test-related 

equipment for use in the semiconductor testing environment and provided Test During Burn-In 
services

•	 Initiated a new project with Unisys Corporation which significantly expanded our engineering 
services in the area of system integration of High Power Burn-In Systems

•	 Mainboard listing on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

1981 – 1989
•	 Incorporated in Singapore

•	 Commenced operations with 23 personnel and three Burn-In Systems with a 
total area of 782 sq.m.

•	 Qualified by our two largest customers, Texas Instruments Singapore and 
National Semiconductor Pte Ltd, as a burn-in service provider due to our fast 
turnaround and good engineering support

Our corporate history spans over 40 years starting as a provider of burn-in solutions. 
Since then, we have expanded our breadth of capabilities to include manufacturing and 
PCBA services and engineering services. Today, we are one of the leading total solutions 
providers for manufacturing and PCBA, and engineering services for our global customers 
in the semiconductor, electronics and other industrial sectors. We are proud of the many 
milestones we have reached, and achievements we have garnered over the years.
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CORPORATE MILESTONES AND
TRACK RECORD

2011 – 2020
•	 Secured our first front-end semiconductor customer with the award 

of a multimillion-dollar contract for system integration of Lithography 
Equipment

•	 Attained ISO 9001:2015 (quality management systems), ISO 
14001:2015 (environmental management systems) and ISO 
13485:2016 (quality management systems for medical devices)

•	 Diversified into the provision of services for the medical, mobile 
communications and aviation industries

•	 Acquired new customers in the Digital Imaging Systems space

•	 Successful transfer of burn-In business from an overseas 
semiconductor customer to support customer’s outsourcing strategy

•	 Recognised by RHB Bank in their 25 Jewels 2017 for good investor 
returns and by online media Storm’s Charger Award 2017 for strong 
growth prospects

•	 Conferred the Singapore Corporate Awards 2019 “Best Managed 
Board (Bronze)” award as a recognition of upholding best practices 
in corporate governance and transparency

•	 Named as one of Top Singapore Small Cap Companies in RHB 20 
Jewels 2020

2021 – 2025
•	 Completed corporate restructuring with Avi-Tech Holdings Limited 

becoming the listed entity and Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd. (previously 
Avi-Tech Electronics Limited) as its wholly-owned subsidiary to facilitate 
business expansion efficiencies and risk management control

•	 Incorporated wholly-owned subsidiary Avi-Tech Electronics (Suzhou) 
Limited to better support customers and enhance market presence in China

•	 Consolidated Burn-In Services and Engineering Services business 
segments into a single Engineering Services business segment to 
streamline operations, improve agility and productivity, and align 
capabilities with evolving industry needs

2000 – 2010
•	 Conferred the prestigious Singapore Quality Award

•	 Successfully ventured into the US for burn-in boards and system integration services 
for the life sciences industry

•	 Established subsidiary Avi-Tech, Inc. in the US to meet the upsurge in demand for 
burn-In boards
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (“FY2025”), 
Avi-Tech Holdings Limited (“Avi-Tech” or the “Group”) 
navigated through complexity and uncertainty 
across the semiconductor and electronics industries. 
Declines in enterprise demand, rising competition, 
rapid technological shifts, inventory imbalances, 
and geopolitical tensions weighed heavily on our 
customers and consequently impacted us. Despite 
these headwinds and subdued business sentiment that 
dampened both revenue and profitability, Avi-Tech 
remained resilient and closed the year profitably.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
In FY2025, the Group reported total revenue of $21.6 
million, a decrease of $3.5 million or 13.9% from $25.1 
million in FY2024. While revenue came under pressure 
from ongoing industry challenges, the Manufacturing 
and PCBA Services business segment continued 
to grow, rising to $13.8 million from $12.6 million in 
FY2024. The Engineering Services business segment 
recorded $7.8 million in revenue, compared with 
$12.5 million in FY2024, reflecting shifts in customer 
demand and project timing.

Amid a challenging operating environment, the Group 
remained profitable, posting a net profit of $0.7 
million. This performance underscores disciplined cost 
management and operational resilience. Geographic 

diversification also gained traction, with China and 
the United States contributing more meaningfully to 
the revenue mix as the Group capitalises on evolving 
industry and market conditions.

The Group’s balance sheet remains healthy, with 
total assets of $58.0 million and total liabilities of 
$7.1 million, supported by a positive working capital 
of $41.7 million. Net cash generated from operations 
amounted to $2.2 million, contributing to a cash 
balance of $37.4 million as at 30 June 2025. This 
strong financial position equips the Group with the 
stability and capacity to navigate ongoing challenges 
while pursuing strategic growth opportunities.

DIVIDEND
Despite the challenges faced in FY2025, the Board, 
after a thorough review of the Group’s financial position 
and business outlook, is pleased to recommend a 
final dividend of 0.25 cents per share. This reflects 
the Group’s commitment to rewarding shareholders 
while maintaining a strong and prudent capital base 
to support its evolving strategic priorities.

The proposed one-tier tax-exempt final dividend is 
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting and, if approved, is expected 
to be paid on 28 November 2025.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
In FY2025, one of the Group’s key strategic initiatives 
was the consolidation of the Burn-in Services 
business segment into the Engineering Services 
business segment. The Burn-in Services business 
segment, which tests semiconductor components 
under stress to ensure reliability, had previously 
operated as a separate unit. Its consolidation with 
the Engineering Services business segment aligns 
testing and engineering, streamlines workflows, 
improves efficiency through shared resources and 
cross-trained staff, and enables the Group to respond 
more dynamically to market trends and pursue 
high-reliability opportunities in semiconductor, 
automotive and other industrial sectors.

Building on last year’s progress, we expanded our 
capabilities and customer base across key markets. 
Strategic partnerships in China and the United States, 
along with collaborations with overseas and local 
companies for Original Equipment Manufacturer 
(“OEM”) and Original Design Manufacturer (“ODM”) 
services, supported new product introductions, 
accelerated innovation, and enhanced client value. 
In addition, we pursued upstream initiatives by 
offering a comprehensive suite of solutions through 
these collaborations, further broadening our service 
offerings and strengthening our client relationships.

Cost management remained a priority amid 
rising material costs and trade tariffs, which were 
mitigated through our vendor network. Investments 
in productivity solutions, reskilling, and training 
helped offset higher manpower costs. Together, these 
initiatives reinforced operational efficiency, sustained 
competitiveness and preserved profitability, keeping 
us well-positioned to pursue sustainable growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND 
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)
Our commitment to ESG principles remains central to 
our strategy, and we are pleased to report continued 
progress in governance and transparency. In the 
Singapore Governance and Transparency Index 2025, 
our ranking improved to No. 31 out of 467 listed 
companies in FY2025, up from No. 36 out of 477 in 
FY2024.

In line with our sustainability targets, we met our 
FY2025 emissions goals with total GHG emissions of 
1,184.5 tCO₂e (Scope 1: 6.5 tCO₂e; Scope 2: 1,178 tCO₂e) 
while waste generation was reduced by more than 
half to 4.4 t from 9.7 t in FY2024, reflecting greater 
efficiency and improved waste management. On 
social indicators, average training hours per employee 
more than doubled to 1.41, exceeding our 0.6-hour 
target, and we maintained an excellent safety record 
with zero fatalities, high-consequence injuries, or 
work-related ill-health cases.

The Group will continue to work towards reducing 
Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 2030, aligning with 
Singapore’s Green Plan to lower national emissions 
to around 60 MtCO₂e by that year. Longer term, we 
are committed to achieving net-zero Scope 1 and 2 
emissions by 2050, in line with Singapore’s pledge 
under the Glasgow Climate Pact adopted at COP26.

For more information on our ESG efforts, please refer 
to our Sustainability Report 2025.

OUTLOOK AND GROWTH STRATEGIES
FY2025 was a year of navigating change. The 
semiconductor and electronics industries faced 
ongoing headwinds and global uncertainties, 
reinforcing the importance of resilience, strategic 
foresight, and disciplined management. In response, 
Avi-Tech has refocused its capabilities to align with 
the evolving technology landscape and better serve 
the needs of our customers.

As part of our strategic shift, Avi-Tech is focusing 
on higher-value manufacturing and engineering 
solutions to enhance agility, operational efficiency, 
and responsiveness to industry trends. Key initiatives 
include expanding our manufacturing capabilities 
for Automatic Test Equipment (“ATE”) boards, 
supported by strategic workforce deployment. These 
efforts position Avi-Tech to anticipate technological 
and customer shifts, strengthening its long-term 
competitiveness and adaptability.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

The rapid adoption of artificial intelligence (“AI”) 
is transforming every facet of modern life, from 
autonomous vehicles to cloud computing, the 
Internet of Things (“IoT”), and beyond. Avi-Tech 
continues to monitor the AI- and IoT-driven surge in 
demand, recognising the opportunities it presents and 
positioning the Group to participate in these growth 
sectors.

Looking ahead, Avi-Tech remains focused on 
maintaining operational efficiency and resilience 
while navigating an evolving business environment. 
With a strong balance sheet and disciplined capital 
management, we are intensifying our efforts in key 
markets, strengthening our footprint in China and 
the United States, deepening customer relationships, 
and pursuing growth through mergers & acquisitions, 
alliances, and partnerships. At the same time, 
capability development, operational improvements, 
and strategic initiatives are laying the groundwork for 
a pivot into areas of greater business relevance.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board and management, I sincerely 
thank our Board members, shareholders, customers, 
business partners, and staff for their guidance, trust,  
and dedication. Guided by our theme “NAVIGATING 
CHANGE | REFOCUSING CAPABILITIES,” Avi-Tech 
is committed to adapting, evolving, and delivering 
sustainable value as we build a resilient future together.

LIM ENG HONG
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Background and Working Experience
Mr Lim Eng Hong is the founder of our Group. He has 
more than 40 years of experience in the semiconductor 
industry and has been the main driving force behind 
the growth and business expansion of the Group. 
Mr Lim oversees the Group’s overall business activities 
and is particularly involved in the development of 
the strategies behind the Group’s diversification into 
other related business areas.

MR LIM ENG HONG
Chief Executive Officer and  

Executive Chairman

Date of last re-election

29 October 2024

Shares in the Company or related corporations

62,612,875 shares in the Company 
(Direct & Deemed Interest)

Committee Memberships

•	 NIL

Academic & Professional Qualifications

•	 Diploma in Telecommunication Engineering, 
Singapore Polytechnic

•	 Diploma in Management Studies,  
Singapore Institute of Management

Present Directorships in listed companies 
(as at 30 June 2025)

(excluding the Company)

•	 NIL

Other Principal Commitments

•	 NIL

Past Directorships in listed companies over the last 
5 years

(excluding Subsidiaries and Associates of the 
Company)

•	 NIL

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Background and Working Experience
Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin is an Executive Director and 
Chief Operating Officer of our Group. He joined the 
Group in 2002 and is responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s operations for Manufacturing and PCBA 
Services and Engineering Services. Mr Lim also 
develops the competitive positioning and strategies 
of the Group and manages the sales, marketing and 
business development functions. Mr Lim was the Chief 
Operating Officer (USA Operations) from 2009 to 2011 
and was responsible for strategising and promoting 
the Group’s business in the market. Mr Lim started 
as a Sales Engineer with the Group, responsible for 
the sales and marketing team for test equipment 

MR LIM TAI MENG ALVIN
Chief Operating Officer and

Executive Director

and sockets. He was subsequently promoted to 
Section Manager in the Engineering Services division 
to manage the manufacturing of System Level Test, 
Hybrid System Test thermal trays and Fusion System 
build to meet customers’ needs, and thereafter became 
a Special Project Manager. With his vast experience 
in managing operations, Mr Lim was later promoted 
to oversee the Manufacturing and PCBA Services 
division, and Engineering Services manufacturing 
operations. In May 2013, Mr Lim was appointed Chief 
Operating Officer of the Group.

Date of last re-election

30 October 2023

Shares in the Company or related corporations

120,000 shares in the Company (Direct Interest)

Committee Memberships

•	 NIL

Academic & Professional Qualifications

•	 Bachelor’s Degree in Electrical and Computer 
Engineering, University of Queensland, Australia

•	 Graduate Diploma in Business Administration, 
Singapore Institute of Management

Present Directorships in listed companies 
(as at 30 June 2025)

(excluding the Company)

•	 NIL

Other Principal Commitments

•	 NIL

Past Directorships in listed companies over the last 
5 years

(excluding Subsidiaries and Associates of the 
Company)

•	 NIL

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR GIANG SOVANN
Non-Executive and 

Lead Independent Director

Background and Working Experience
Mr Giang Sovann is a Senior Director of Business 
Consulting at RSM Singapore and specialises in ESG 
and climate change reporting. He advises and conducts 
training for boards on, amongst other areas, the listing 
rules, charities governance & risk management. He 
has written many articles on corporate governance, 
risk management and sustainability reporting. His 
management concepts, “Four pillars of effective 
corporate oversight” and “Eight drivers of effective 
risk management” have been adopted by many 
organisations.
Outside of RSM Singapore, he teaches at the Singapore 
Management University and the Singapore University 
of Social Sciences on corporate governance, listing 
rules, risk management and sustainability reporting. 
He also teaches on charity governance at the Institute 
of Singapore Chartered Accountants.
Mr Giang was an Executive Director of the Singapore 
Institute of Directors where he also sat on the 
Organising Committee of the Singapore Corporate 
Awards for SGX-listed companies. He has more than 
10 years of experience serving as an independent 
director of SGX-listed companies.
Mr Giang started his career as a public accountant with 
a Big 4 firm in Canada and Singapore. After leaving 
the public accounting practice, Mr Giang has served 

as a senior executive in a multinational company, 
an Indonesian regional conglomerate, a large public 
entity, and SGX-listed companies. He has over 30 
years of operational and financial management 
experience across various industries including 
aerospace, food and beverage, flexible packaging, 
precision engineering, mining, oil and gas, real estate, 
telecommunications, and trading & distribution.
Mr Giang qualified as a Chartered Accountant with 
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (now 
CPA Canada), and is also a Chartered Accountant, 
Singapore and Senior Accredited Director of the 
Singapore Institute of Directors. Mr Giang was also a 
Member of the Complaints and Disciplinary Panel, the 
Public Accountants Oversight Committee, Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority, Singapore.

Date of last election
29 October 2024
Shares in the Company or related corporations
NA
Committee Memberships
•	 Audit and Risk Committee (Chairman)
•	 Nominating Committee
•	 Remuneration Committee
Academic & Professional Qualifications
•	 Bachelor of Administration, University of Regina, 

Canada
•	 Chartered Accountant, Singapore
•	 Chartered Professional Accountant, Canada
•	 Senior Accredited Board Director, Singapore 

Institute of Directors
Present Directorships in listed companies 
(as at 30 June 2025)
(excluding the Company)
•	 CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited
Other Principal Commitments
•	 Senior Director of Business Consulting at RSM 

Singapore
•	 Affiliate Faculty at Singapore Management 

University
•	 Teaching Associate at Singapore University of 

Social Sciences
•	 Independent Director of Cambodia Post Bank PLC
•	 Independent Director of Funan Microfinance PLC
•	 Independent Director of Presbyterian Community 

Services
Past Directorships in listed companies over the last 
5 years
(excluding Subsidiaries and Associates of the 
Company)
•	 Rich Capital Holdings Limited
•	 Silkroad Nickel Pte. Ltd. (formerly known as 

Silkroad Nickel Ltd.)

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR CHAN YU MENG
Non-Executive and

Independent Director

Background and Working Experience
Mr Chan is the Head of Legal, Risk and Compliance 
at Golden Energy and Resources Pte. Ltd., which was 
previously listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST. He 
was previously a partner in the corporate department 
of Lee & Lee, a law firm in Singapore. He has more 
than 20 years of experience in the areas of mergers 
and acquisitions, capital markets, corporate finance, 
corporate restructuring, securities law, stock exchange 
practice and corporate secretarial matters. He also has 
prior experience as a litigation counsel representing 
clients in both civil and criminal matters.

Mr Chan has held the role of independent director 
at several SGX-listed companies. He is an ordinary 
member of the Singapore Academy of Law and the 
Singapore Institute of Directors (SID), and is recognised 
as a Senior Accredited Director (MSID-SRAD).

Mr Chan graduated from the University of Durham, 
United Kingdom, and is called to the Singapore Bar.

Date of last re-election

29 October 2024

Shares in the Company or related corporations

NA

Committee Memberships

•	 Audit and Risk Committee

•	 Nominating Committee

•	 Remuneration Committee (Chairman)

Academic & Professional Qualifications

•	 Bachelor of Laws (LLB), Durham University

•	 Diploma in Singapore Law, National University of 
Singapore

•	 Postgraduate Practical Course in Law,  
Board of Legal Education, Singapore

Present Directorships in listed companies 
(as at 30 June 2025)

(excluding the Company)

•	  Livingstone Health Holdings Limited

Other Principal Commitments

•	 Head of Legal, Risk and Compliance for Golden 
Energy and Resources Pte. Ltd.

Past Directorships in listed companies over the last 
5 years

(excluding Subsidiaries and Associates of the 
Company)

•	 NIL

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MR TAN KA HUAT
Non-Executive and

Independent Director

Background and Working Experience
Mr Tan Ka Huat began his career in 1975 as a process 
engineer for Texas Instrument Singapore, and 
subsequently worked as an operations manager from 
1986 to 1990 in the semiconductor industry. In 1991, 
Mr Tan joined Singapore Technologies Venture as a 
business development director.

Thereafter, from 1992 to 1999, Mr Tan worked for 
Chartered Electronics Pte Ltd as its general manager, 
and vice president. From 2000 to 2021, Mr Tan held 
the position of managing director of CEI Limited. 
He continued to hold this position in 2022, after CEI 
Limited was renamed to CEI Pte. Ltd., following its 
delisting in 2021. From January 2023 to November 
2023, Mr Tan was a business advisor to CEI Pte. Ltd.

Date of last election

30 October 2023

Shares in the Company or related corporations

NA

Committee Memberships

•	 Audit and Risk Committee

•	 Nominating Committee (Chairman)

•	 Remuneration Committee

Academic & Professional Qualifications

•	 Bachelor of Science (Physics), Nanyang University 
(n.k.a. Nanyang Technological University), 
Singapore

•	 Diploma in Business Administration, National 
University of Singapore

•	 Master of Business, University of Technology, 
Sydney, Australia

Present Directorships in listed companies 
(as at 30 June 2025)

(excluding the Company)

•	  NIL

Other Principal Commitments

•	 Director of Dou Yee Enterprises (S) Pte. Ltd.

Past Directorships in listed companies over the last 
5 years

(excluding Subsidiaries and Associates of the 
Company)

•	 CEI Limited (which has since been renamed to CEI 
Pte. Ltd., following its delisting in 2021)

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Mr Joseph Wang is our Chief Financial Officer. He oversees and manages the financial and accounting functions 
of our Group in addition to risk management. Mr Wang has more than 25 years of finance, corporate treasury 
management, corporate banking, global market and investment banking experience. Over the course of his 
career, he has held senior roles as Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Vice President of SGX-listed entities 
and Singapore Temasek linked companies such as Top Global, ST Engineering, PSA International and Singapore 
Technologies. He has strong banking experience, having held senior roles at Barclays Capital (Barclays Bank) 
and Deutsche Bank as their Vice President for client management.

In Mr Wang’s previous executive roles, he was responsible for finance, corporate treasury, investments, SGX-ST 
reporting, planning, developing and implementing business strategies across the organisations. During his 
tenure with the aforementioned banks, he was responsible for supporting corporate clients with a wide range 
of financial services and products including acquisition financing, capital market financing, loan syndications, 
treasury and general advisory work; to assist them to manage their corporate financial risks and funding 
requirements effectively. Mr Wang holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) degree from Simon Fraser University, 
British Columbia, Canada.

MR JOSEPH WANG NIN CHOON
Chief Financial Officer

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY PERSONNEL

Mr Allan Ngo is our Director of Operations 
(Manufacturing). He joined our Group in 2003 
and is responsible for our operations related to 
Manufacturing and Printed Circuit Board Assembly 
Services (“PCBA”) as well as Engineering Services.

Mr Ngo was in charge of the Burn-In Board 
Manufacturing Services division where he was 
the Production Manager managing the planning, 
process, manufacturing and logistics operations 
of the department. He was promoted to Director 
of Operations (Manufacturing), overseeing the 
operational aspects of Supply Chain Management, 
Manufacturing and PCBA Services.

Mr Ngo holds a Diploma in Electronics, Computer 
and Communication Engineering from Nanyang 
Polytechnic, Singapore, and a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Business and Graduate Diploma in 
Sustainability Management from Singapore University 
of Social Sciences.

MR ALLAN NGO YU WEI
Director of Operations
(Manufacturing)

Mr Desmond Ow Yang is our Director of Operations 
(Services). He joined our Group in 1999 and oversees 
the Group’s Burn-In operations. Mr Ow Yang is also 
responsible for the production, planning, engineering 
and maintenance support of the Group and is the lead 
auditor for ISO 9001 and internal auditor for ISO 14001 
certifications.

Mr Ow Yang started as a Burn-In Engineer with our 
Group and was in charge of the set up and introduction 
of new products and processes in Burn-In operations 
to meet customers’ requirements. He was promoted 
to Senior Engineer and subsequently, Engineering 
Manager, to manage the Engineering team in providing 
technical solutions and support to customers. During 
that period, he was also responsible for Sales and 
Customer Services for Burn-In Services, Tape and 
Reel, Visual Inspection and other services, for both 
local and overseas customers.

Mr Ow Yang holds a Bachelor of Engineering 
(Honours) degree from the University of Aberdeen, 
United Kingdom.

MR DESMOND OW YANG CHIEN KHANG
Director of Operations
(Services)

Mr Bambang Handoko Sutedjo is our Director of 
Sales. He joined our Group in 1993 and is responsible 
for the sales and marketing of Burn-In Services and 
Manufacturing and PCBA Services, both locally 
and overseas. Mr Sutedjo is also in charge of the 
Manufacturing and PCBA Services design team.

Mr Sutedjo has more than 20 years of experience in 
the semiconductor industry. He was previously the 
Senior Manager of Sales and Marketing of our Group, 
responsible for the management of the Burn-In Board 
Manufacturing-related division’s local and overseas 
sales. Prior to joining our Group, he was a Field Service 
Engineer with SETA Corporation in Charlotte, North 
Carolina, USA.

Mr Sutedjo holds a Bachelor of Science in Electrical 
Engineering degree from the Tennessee Technological 
University of Cookeville, Tennessee, USA.

MR BAMBANG HANDOKO SUTEDJO
Director of Sales
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

MANUFACTURING AND PCBA SERVICES
The Manufacturing and PCBA Services business 
segment accounted for 64.1% of the Group’s revenue 
in FY2025, maintaining its position as the largest 
contributor. Revenue rose 9.5% to $13.8 million from 
$12.6 million in FY2024. Driven primarily by stronger 
contributions from the China market and new product 
introductions, this growth also reflected a shift 
towards new product types prompted by evolving 
technologies, building on last year’s focus. Other 
geographic markets remained relatively stable, while 
China and the United States contributed more 
meaningfully to the revenue mix.

In China, we tapped into the growing demand for high-
complexity and high-frequency boards, supported by 
the expanded expertise of our local team. We 
strengthened our design and service support functions, 
adding headcount and design resources to enhance 
capabilities and remain competitive in meeting both 
current and future market needs. In the United States, 
we broadened our product offerings, enabling us to 
serve existing customers with a wider range of solutions 
across different business divisions. With our enhanced 
technical capabilities, we are able to address more 
complex requirements and support multiple aspects 
of their operations, further strengthening partnerships 
and deepening engagement with key clients.

Leveraging the manufacturing equipment and tester 
investments made in FY2024, we have taken on a 
wider and more complex range of board requirements 
while strengthening our technical capabilities, 
enabling us to broaden our customer and product 
base during FY2025. This includes expansion into 
high-power board production, a steadily growing 
segment supported by rising demand from AI, 
networking, and communications applications. At 
the same time, we remain focused on addressing 
rising material and labour costs, strengthening 
supplier partnerships and expanding our network to 
secure competitive pricing and ensure supply 
resilience. Building on these efforts, we further 
widened our supply chain by adding new design 
partners, enhancing capabilities and flexibility.

Looking ahead, we remain mindful of ongoing labour, 
material, and tariff pressures, while focusing on niche 
commercial PCBAs that require high customisation 
and advanced technical capabilities. Key initiatives 
include expanding our manufacturing capabilities to 
cover ATE boards and exploring opportunities in 
niche commercial PCBAs for sectors such as avionics, 
telecommunications, and security as these markets 
offer steadier demand and lower volatility than 
consumer electronics. Additionally, we are working 
on qualifying another product line for networking 
and communications, further strengthening our 
participation in the AI and semiconductor ecosystem. 
We will also continue to deepen our presence in 
China and the United States, seizing opportunities in 
these dynamic markets to drive sustainable growth.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

ENGINEERING SERVICES
In FY2025, the Group consolidated the Burn-in 
Services business segment into the Engineering 
Services business segment, boosting efficiency and 
strengthening its ability to pursue high-reliability 
growth sectors. This integration enhances agility and 
productivity while better aligning the Group’s 
capabilities with the evolving needs of the industries 
it serves.

In FY2025, the Engineering Services business 
segment accounted for 35.9% of the Group’s total 
revenue, amounting to $7.8 million, a decline of 37.6% 
from $12.5 million in FY2024. The decrease was 
primarily due to reduced new project acquisitions 
and lower demand amid a slowing economy, shifting 
market dynamics, and evolving technology 
requirements. As a result, customers reduced their 
capital spending, which led to a short-term inventory 
surplus and slowing order fulfillment.

Nonetheless, we continued to secure new projects, 
with customers successfully launching new products. 
Building on last year’s success, we further gained 
market traction in the United States, particularly with 
high-end lighting projects for our key customer, 
which specialises in solutions for cinema shoots and 
sporting events. We continue to collaborate closely 
on new product developments and requirements. To 
support these initiatives, we have invested in 
resources and staff training to broaden and deepen 
our capabilities in new product assembly and better 
align with customer demands.

Alongside enhancing customer value and expanding 
our capabilities, we focused on increasing 
competitiveness while managing costs. This included 
streamlining operations, optimising resource 
allocation, and strategically adopting advanced 

automation technologies to enhance operational 
efficiency and reduce manual errors, and deliver 
higher-quality products to our customers. By 
balancing cost discipline with capability development, 
we aimed to deliver greater value to customers, 
strengthen our market position, and support 
sustainable growth across our business segment.

We are encouraged by the growth potential of our 
services, particularly in advanced lighting solutions 
and industrial OEM equipment. Looking ahead, we 
plan to strengthen engineering support and integrate 
value-added activities to improve margins, while 
expanding our business with existing and new 
customers, exploring new products, and entering 
new markets. Our strategy also includes targeting 
ODM customer acquisition and pursuing additional 
opportunities to grow our geographic reach.

To this end, the United States offers promising 
opportunities, and we intend to leverage our 
established relationships to capture further growth. 
Simultaneously, we are exploring China, building on 
the progress of our Manufacturing and PCBA Services 
business segment, which has gained traction. Given 
the economic and tariff uncertainties, we are taking a 
disciplined approach to risk management, carefully 
monitoring market conditions, adjusting our 
operations where necessary, and maintaining 
flexibility in resource allocation. By doing so, we aim 
to capitalise on growth opportunities while protecting 
our business from potential volatility, thus ensuring 
sustainable performance across our geographic 
markets.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
In FY2025, we maintained our commitment to 
diversity and inclusion, employing a workforce that 
spans a wide range of ages and nationalities. Our 
Singapore operations represent 85.4% of total 
headcount, with 111 employees averaging 46.9 years 
of age, and women comprising around 51% of the 
workforce. We also supported government initiatives 
by rehiring retirees who wished to remain 
economically active.

In the year, we built on the employee development 
initiatives of previous years, continuing to tailor 
training to individual abilities and job requirements. 
Production staff maintained bi-annual re-certification, 
while management staff further advanced their skills 
through external programmes such as Workforce 
Skills Qualifications, the Electronics Industries Training 
Centre, and the Integrated Assessment Pathway.

To further uphold high quality standards, our 
Quality Assurance Engineers applied advanced 
methodologies, including the AIAG VDA Process 
(PFMEA), to sustain efficiency and manufacturing 
excellence. We successfully retained our international 
certifications, including ISO 9001:2015 for quality 
management and ISO 14001:2015 for environmental 
management systems.

Staff safety and well-being remained a key focus in 
FY2025. Workplace safety was strengthened through 
lifesaving training, including Occupational First Aid 
and Automated External Defibrillator courses, with 
zero incidents of fatalities, high-consequence injuries, 
or work-related illnesses recorded. Health and 
wellness were supported through regular health 
talks, medical check-ups, and lifestyle promotion 
programmes, while staff engagement and recognition 
were fostered through weekly “Walk-the-Lines” 
sessions, a Christmas luncheon, and the Long Service 
Award presentation.

Beyond the workplace, the Group seeks to make a 
positive impact as a responsible corporate citizen. 
We continue to support community initiatives. 
Notably, we made contributions to Thye Hua Kwan 
Hospital, which provides affordable rehabilitative 
and sub-acute care for geriatric patients.

For further details on our corporate social 
responsibility and sustainability efforts, please refer 
to the Sustainability Report 2025.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RETURN ON
EQUITY (%)

6.3 5.5 1.3

2023 2024 2025

REVENUE

34.9 25.1 21.6

2023 2024 2025 2023 2024 2025

4.1 3.4 0.9

PROFIT BEFORE 
INCOME TAX

TOTAL DEBT

0.8 0.8 0.5

2023 2024 2025 2023 2024 2025

59.4 57.6 58.0

TOTAL ASSETS

2023 2024 2025

1.6 1.5 1.0

GEARING (%)
(TOTAL DEBT/TOTAL 

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY)

2023 2024 2025 2023 2024 2025

3.3 2.8 0.7 1.9 1.7 0.4

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EPS (CENTS)

2023 2024 2025 2023 2024 2025

51.7 51.5 50.9 30.2 30.1 29.8

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY

NET ASSET VALUE
PER SHARE (CENTS)

PROFIT AND LOSS ($’M)

BALANCE SHEET ($’M)

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Revenue 21,592 25,075 (13.9)

Cost of sales (17,600) (18,549) (5.1)

Gross profit 3,992 6,526 (38.8)

Administrative expenses (4,640) (5,046) (8.0)

Profit before income tax 914 3,384 (73.0)

Income tax expense (251) (570) (56.0)

Profit for the year 663 2,814 (76.4)

REVENUE BY BUSINESS SEGMENTS ($’000)

12,589 12,486

2024 2024

13,834

7,758

2025 2025

Engineering ServicesManufacturing and 
PCBA Services

FY2025

FY2024

In FY2025, the Group reported revenue of $21.6 million, a decrease of $3.5 million or 13.9% as 
compared to FY2024 of $25.1 million.

The Manufacturing and PCBA Services business segment, which remained as the largest contributor 
to the Group’s revenue, registered revenue of $13.8 million in FY2025 as compared to $12.6 million in 
FY2024.

The Engineering Services business segment registered revenue of $7.8 million in FY2025 as compared 
to $12.5 million in FY2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

COST OF SALES ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Cost of sales 17,600 18,549 (5.1)

Included in cost of sales:

Cost of inventories 10,135 9,870 2.7

Salary cost and related cost 4,941 5,702 (13.4)

Depreciation 596 650 (8.5)

Electricity 647 941 (31.2)

Other direct overheads 1,281 1,386 (7.6)

GROSS PROFIT ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Gross Profit 3,992 6,526 (38.8)

Gross Margin 18.5% 26.0% (28.8)

The Group reported a gross profit of $4.0 million in FY2025, a decrease of $2.5 million or 38.8% as 
compared to $6.5 million in FY2024.

The Group reported a decline in gross profit, primarily due to a decrease in sales in the Engineering 
Services business segment.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Administrative expenses 4,640 5,046 (8.0)

Included in administrative expenses:

Salary and related cost 2,253 2,374 (5.1)

Foreign currency exchange loss – net 188 91 106.6

Impairment loss on associate – 171 n.m.*

Electricity 93 104 (10.6)

Depreciation 714 768 (7.0)

* Not meaningful

Administrative expenses decreased by $0.4 million from $5.0 million in FY2024 to $4.6 million in 
FY2025.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Profit before income tax 914 3,384 (73.0)

Income tax expense (251) (570) (56.0)

Profit for the year 663 2,814 (76.4)

The Group reported a profit of $0.7 million for FY2025 compared to $2.8 million for FY2024. The 
decrease in profit was aligned with the decrease in gross profit.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES ($’000)
FY2025 FY2024 Change %

Cash flow from (used in):

– Operating activities 2,180 8,240 (73.5)

– Investing activities (339) (4,773) (92.9)

– Financing activities (1,602) (3,265) (50.9)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 239 202 18.3

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8,281 8,048 2.9

The Group generated net cash from operating activities of $2.2 million for FY2025.

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.3 million, which was mainly attributed to the addition of 
property, plant and equipment of $0.1 million as well as placement of fixed deposits of $0.2 million 
with financial institutions over three (3)-month tenures. Net cash used in financing activities was 
$1.6 million, which was primarily due to the dividend paid.

There was an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $0.2 million for FY2025.

The Group closed FY2025 with cash and cash equivalents of $8.3 million.
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The Board is committed to setting and maintaining high standards of corporate governance to preserve 
and enhance the interests of all shareholders. The Board has adopted the recommendations of the Code 
of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”).

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific reference 
to each of the principles and provisions set out in the Code. The Group has materially complied with all the 
provisions set out in the Code. In areas where the Company’s practices vary from any of the provisions of 
the Code, we have provided the reasons for the variation and explained how the practices the Company 
has adopted are consistent with the intent of the relevant principle, where appropriate.

BOARD MATTERS: THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

Principle

1. The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works 
with Management for the long-term success of the company.

Provision Disclosure

1.1 Directors are fiduciaries who 
act objectively in the best 
interests of the company 
and hold Management 
accountable for performance. 
The Board puts in place a 
code of conduct and ethics, 
sets appropriate tone-from-the-
top and desired organisational 
culture, and ensures proper 
accountability within the 
company. Directors facing 
conflicts of interest recuse 
themselves from discussions 
and decisions involving the 
issues of conflict.

All our Directors are tasked to objectively discharge their 
duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the 
interests of the Company.

The Board has established and functions within a defined set 
of terms of reference and procedures. The Board’s terms of 
reference provide that a Director facing conflicts of interest 
should not vote on the matter under discussion and should 
recuse himself from the portion of the meeting where there 
is a potential conflict. A Director should not be counted 
towards the quorum of any meeting for any resolution where 
he is recused or debarred from voting.

To achieve a high standard of corporate governance, 
the Company has also implemented a business ethics 
policy, which establishes the Company’s ethical business 
practice and outlines fundamental principles of ethical 
business behaviour and the responsibilities of all employees 
and Company representatives in aligning with them. The 
Company has also adopted the Responsible Business 
Alliance (RBA) Supplier Code of Conduct as a corporate 
social responsibility model in delivering the highlighted 
standard of product quality and business integrity in dealing 
with suppliers, subcontractors and other service providers. 
Please refer to the Company’s sustainability report and 
website at www.avi-tech.com.sg for further details.
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1.2 Directors understand the 
company’s business as well 
as their directorship duties 
(including their roles as 
executive, non-executive 
and independent directors). 
Directors are provided with 
opportunities to develop 
and maintain their skills and 
knowledge at the company’s 
expense. The induction, 
training and development 
provided to new and existing 
directors are disclosed in the 
company’s annual report.

The Board ensures that all incoming directors receive 
a comprehensive and tailored induction on joining the 
Board, including briefing them on their duties as a director 
(including the differences in roles as an (i) executive director 
which is to, inter alia, provide insights on the Company’s 
day-to-day operations, and provide management’s views 
without undermining management accountability to the 
Board, as a (ii) non-executive director which is to, inter alia, 
constructively challenge management and help develop 
proposals on strategy, and as an (iii) independent director, 
which is to, inter alia, provide an independent and objective 
check on management) and how to discharge those duties, 
and an orientation programme to ensure that they are 
familiar with the Group’s business and governance practices. 
The Company also provides training for any new first-time 
director (who has no prior experience as a director in a 
listed company) in areas such as accounting, legal and 
industry-specific knowledge as appropriate. All new first-
time directors (who have no prior experience as a director 
in a listed company on the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)) must undergo training in the 
roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as 
prescribed by the SGX-ST.

Upon the appointment of any new director, the Company 
will provide a formal letter to the director, setting out the 
director’s duties and obligations.

With the objective of enhancing corporate performance 
and accountability, as well as protecting the interests of 
stakeholders, the Board has also taken adequate steps 
to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements, including requirements under the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST (the “Listing Rules”), by establishing 
written policies where appropriate. The Independent 
Directors in consultation with management will request 
for management’s consideration for the establishment of 
written policies for any particular matter that is deemed to 
be essential to form part of management control. The Board 
also reviews legislation and regulatory compliance reports 
from management to ensure that the Group complies with 
the relevant regulatory requirements, including requirements 
under the Listing Rules, with the assistance of the Group’s 
legal advisors.

All Board members are encouraged to receive regular 
training, particularly on relevant new laws, regulations 
and changing commercial risks, from time to time. The 
Board is mindful of the best practice in the Code to initiate 
programmes for Directors to meet their relevant training 
needs. In this regard, the Company is supportive of the 
Directors’ participation in industry conferences and seminars, 
and will fund the Directors’ attendance at any course 
or training programme in connection with their duties as 
directors.
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In the financial year under review, the Directors attended 
various training programmes and seminars, including:

(a)	 training courses conducted by the Singapore Institute 
of Directors (“SID”) such as “Transatlantic Divide on 
ESG: Approaches and Implications”, “A Director’s Guide 
for Navigating Climate Change”, “The Board’s Role in 
Adopting the New Global Internal Audit Standards”, 
“Post-Budget 2025 Perspectives”, “Unlocking Value with 
Advisory Boards”, “Audit And Risk Committee Seminar 
2025”, “Tax Dispute Resolution”, “Navigating Towards 
ISSB Compliance”, “Directors Sued/Charged: Lessons 
from Recent Cases” and “Behind Closed Doors: Key 
Decisions and Insights from NRCs”;

(b)	 a training course conducted by NTUC Learning Hub 
titled “Generative AI Essentials and Tools for Business 
Professionals (SF)”;

(c)	 a training course conducted by Singapore Exchange 
Limited titled “GRI Sustainability Reporting Learning 
Series – Focus on Scope 3 Emissions Accounting 
and Reporting: Disclosure GRI 305-3 (Other Indirect 
Emissions)”; and

(d)	 a training course conducted by RSM Singapore titled 
“Community of Practice – ESG for Charities”.

As required under Rule 210(5)(a) of the Listing Rules, in the 
financial year under review, the Board and management of 
the Company have appropriate experience and expertise 
to manage the Group’s business, taking into account the 
nature and scope of the Group’s operations, requirements 
of the business and the need to avoid undue disruptions 
from changes to the composition of the Board and Board 
committees.

1.3 The Board decides on matters 
that require its approval and 
clearly communicates this 
to Management in writing. 
Matters requiring board 
approval are disclosed in the 
company’s annual report.

The Board’s role is, inter alia, to:

•	 provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic 
objectives, with appropriate focus on value creation 
for shareholders, innovation and sustainability;

•	 ensure that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Company to meet its 
objectives;

•	 establish a framework of sound, prudent and effective 
controls which enables risks to be effectively monitored, 
assessed and managed, including safeguarding of 
shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets, and to 
achieve an appropriate balance between risks and 
Company performance;

•	 constructively challenge management and review 
management performance;
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•	 identify the key stakeholder groups, ensure transparency 
and accountability to key stakeholder groups and 
recognise that their perceptions affect the Company’s 
reputation; and

•	 set and instil the Company’s corporate culture of 
values and standards (including ethical standards) 
and ensure that the Company’s values, standards, 
policies, practices and obligations to shareholders and 
other stakeholders are consistent with the Company’s 
corporate culture and such culture is understood and 
met.

The Board’s terms of reference have set forth the following 
matters which are specifically reserved to the Board for 
approval:

•	 material acquisitions and disposal of assets;

•	 corporate or financial restructuring;

•	 share issuances (including stock options or other equity 
awards), dividends and other capital transactions and 
returns to shareholders;

•	 approval of annual audited financial statements for the 
Group and the Directors’ Statement thereto;

•	 any public reports or press releases reporting the results 
of operations; and

•	 matters involving a conflict or potential conflict of 
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director.

Clear directions have also been given to management that 
such matters must be approved by the Board.

1.4 Board committees, including 
Executive Committees (if any), 
are formed with clear written 
terms of reference setting out 
their compositions, authorities 
and duties, including reporting 
back to the Board. The names 
of the committee members, 
the terms of reference, any 
delegation of the Board’s 
authority to make decisions, 
and a summary of each 
committee’s activities, are 
disclosed in the company’s 
annual report.

In accordance with the Code, the Board has, without 
abdicating its responsibility, established Board committees 
to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities and to 
enhance the Group’s corporate governance framework.

The Board committees comprise the Audit and Risk 
Committee (“ARC”), the Nominating Committee (“NC”) 
and the Remuneration Committee (“RC”), which have been 
delegated with specific authority. Each Board committee has 
written terms of reference which clearly set out the authority 
and duties of the committees, and functions within its own 
defined terms of reference and procedures. All committees 
are chaired by a Non-Executive Independent Director. All 
Board members objectively make decisions in the interests of 
the Company. The composition and the terms of reference 
and description of each Board committee, any delegation 
of the Board’s authority to make decisions to the Board 
committees, and a summary of the activities of each Board 
committee are set out in this report. 
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1.5 Directors attend and actively 
participate in Board and 
board committee meetings. 
The number of such meetings 
and each individual director’s 
attendances at such meetings 
are disclosed in the company’s 
annual report. Directors with 
multiple board representations 
ensure that sufficient time and 
attention are given to the 
affairs of each company.

The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings for the first 
and third quarters of the financial year to receive updates 
on significant business activities and the overall business 
environment, in addition to the half-yearly meetings which 
coincide with the announcement of the Group’s half-year 
and full-year results respectively. Ad-hoc meetings will be 
held as and when required to address any significant 
issues that may arise. The constitution of the Company (the 
“Constitution”) permits meetings of directors to be held via 
conference telephone, videoconferencing or other means 
of similar communications equipment whereby all persons 
participating in the meeting can hear each other. Non-
Executive Independent Directors are also encouraged to 
communicate amongst themselves, and with the Company’s 
auditors and legal advisors without the presence of the 
Executive Director(s) and management.

Details of each Director’s attendance at the Board and 
Board committee meetings held during the financial year 
under review are summarised in the table below:

Meetings of Board

Audit 
and Risk 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Total held in 
FY2025 4 4 1 1

Lim Eng Hong 4 4 1 1

Lim Tai Meng 
Alvin 4 4 1 1

Giang 
Sovann1 3 3 0 0

Chan Yu 
Meng 4 4 1 1

Tan Ka Huat 4 4 1 1

As Executive Directors, both Mr Lim Eng Hong and Mr Lim Tai 
Meng Alvin attend the meetings of the ARC, the NC and the 
RC, by invitation.

Directors with multiple board representations have ensured 
that sufficient time and attention are given to the affairs of 
the Company in order to fulfil their responsibilities and duties 
to the Company and its shareholders.

1	 Mr Giang Sovann was appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the AGM held on 29 October 2024, and thereafter 
appointed as Chairman of the ARC and member of the NC and RC on 29 October 2024. Mr Michael Grenville Gray retired as Lead 
Independent Director of the Company at the conclusion of the AGM held on 29 October 2024.
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1.6 Management  prov ides 
directors with complete, 
adequate and t imely 
information prior to meetings 
and on an on-going basis to 
enable them to make informed 
decisions and discharge their 
duties and responsibilities.

Management recognises that the flow of complete, 
adequate and timely information on an ongoing basis to 
the Board is essential to the Board’s effective and efficient 
discharge of its duties. Management provides all members 
of the Board with management accounts, consisting of, 
amongst other things, the consolidated profit and loss 
accounts, analysis of sales, operating profit, pre-tax and 
attributable profit with variance analyses, so as to present a 
balanced and informed assessment of the Company’s and 
Group’s performance, position and prospects on a monthly 
basis and as the Board may require from time to time. Such 
reports enable the Directors to keep abreast of the Group’s 
operating and financial performance and position. Any 
material variances between the projections and actual 
results are disclosed and explained. As and when the 
circumstances require, the Board can request management 
to provide the necessary explanation and/or information on 
the management accounts of the Group.

The Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) also provides each 
member of the Board with appropriate financial accounts 
and other information detailing the Group’s performance, 
financial position and prospects on a regular basis and 
provides the Board with meeting and presentation materials 
in advance of each meeting unless doing so would be 
deemed to compromise the confidentiality of highly sensitive 
information. Further enquiries may be made by the Directors 
to discharge their duties properly. The information provided 
by the CFO includes Board papers and related materials, 
background or explanatory information relating to matters 
to be brought before the Board, copies of disclosure 
documents, budgets, forecasts and monthly internal financial 
statements. In respect of budgets, any material variance 
between the projections and actual results is disclosed and 
explained. The CFO and outside professionals may also be 
invited to attend the meetings to provide further insight on 
specific matters or respond to queries from the Directors.
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1.7 Directors have separate 
and independent access to 
Management, the company 
secretary, and external 
advisers (where necessary) at 
the company’s expense. The 
appointment and removal 
of the company secretary is 
a decision of the Board as a 
whole.

The Directors have separate and independent access to the 
Company’s senior management. The Board is also entitled to 
request from senior management and is, upon making such 
request, provided with such additional information needed 
to make informed decisions. Management provides such 
additional information to the Board in a timely manner.

The Directors also have separate and independent access 
to the Company Secretary and can seek independent 
professional advice and assistance from the Company 
Secretary or external advisers if necessary, and the cost of 
such advice and assistance will be borne by the Company.

The Company Secretary (or his authorised representatives) 
provides secretarial support to the Board and the 
responsibilities of the Company Secretary include:

•	 advising the Board on all governance matters;

•	 attending all Board and Board committee meetings and 
preparing the minutes of these meetings;

•	 ensuring adherence to Board procedures and 
compliance with relevant Singapore rules and 
regulations applicable to the Company. Where such 
rules and regulations relate to foreign jurisdictions, the 
Company Secretary facilitates liaison between foreign 
advisors and the Board;

•	 working with management to ensure good information 
flows within the Board and the Board committees and 
between senior management and Non-Executive 
Directors; and

•	 facilitating orientation and assisting with professional 
development as required.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is 
a matter for the Board to decide as a whole.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle

2. The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background 
in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

Provision Disclosure

2.1 An “independent” director 
is one who is independent 
in conduct, character and 
judgement, and has no 
relationship with the company, 
its related corporations, its 
substantial shareholders or its 
officers that could interfere, 
or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise 
of the director’s independent 
business judgement in the best 
interests of the company.

With reference to Rule 210(5)(c) of the Listing Rules, more 
than one-third of the Board is made up of Independent 
Directors who offer alternative views of the Group’s 
business and corporate activities. The Board has at least 
2 Non-Executive Directors who are independent and free 
of any material business or financial connection with the 
Company. There is a strong and independent element on 
the Board, capable of exercising objective judgement on 
corporate affairs independently of the Group. The Board’s 
views and opinions often provide different perspectives to the 
Group’s business. No individual or small group of individuals 
dominates the Board’s decision-making.

The independence of each Independent Director is reviewed 
and determined by the NC annually with reference to 
Rule 210(5)(d)(i), (ii) and (iv) of the Listing Rules and also 
based on guidelines set forth in the Code and the individual 
Director’s declaration.

Each Director is requested to disclose to the Board if there is 
any relationship with the Company, its related corporations, 
its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, 
or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of 
the Director’s independent business judgement in the best 
interests of the Company (the “Associated Relationships”), 
as and when it arises.

Each of Mr Giang Sovann, Mr Chan Yu Meng and Mr Tan 
Ka Huat has also disclosed that he is not, nor has any of his 
immediate family members:

(i)	 in the current financial year or immediate past financial 
year, provided to or received from the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries any significant payment or 
material services (which may include auditing, banking, 
consulting and legal services), where such payments or 
services aggregated over any financial year is or was 
in excess of $50,000, other than Directors’ fees received 
by Mr Giang Sovann, Mr Chan Yu Meng and Mr Tan Ka 
Huat (after obtaining shareholders’ approval) for board 
service; and
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(ii)	 in the current financial year or immediate past financial 
year, is or was a substantial shareholder or a partner 
in (with 5% or more stake), or an executive officer of, 
or a director of, any organisation which provided to or 
received from the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
any significant payments or material services (which 
may include auditing, banking, consulting and legal 
services), such payments or services aggregated over 
any financial year is or was in excess of $200,000.

Each of Mr Giang Sovann, Mr Chan Yu Meng and Mr Tan Ka 
Huat has also disclosed that:

(a)	 he is not, and has not been employed by the Company 
or any of its related corporations for the current financial 
year or any of the past 3 financial years; and

(b)	 none of his immediate family members are or have 
been employed by the Company or any of its related 
corporations for the current financial year or any of the 
past 3 financial years, and whose remuneration is or 
was determined by the RC of the Company.

In this report, the term “immediate family” shall carry the 
same meaning as defined in the Listing Rules.

It is a requirement of the Code that the Board should state 
its reasons if it determines that a director is independent 
notwithstanding the existence of an Associated Relationship. 
After taking into consideration the views of the NC, and the 
Board’s review which determined that none of Mr Giang 
Sovann, Mr Chan Yu Meng or Mr Tan Ka Huat has any 
Associated Relationships and that none of the circumstances 
stated in Rule 210(5)(d)(i), (ii) or (iv) of the Listing Rules 
apply to any of these Directors, the Board considers each 
of these Directors to be an Independent Director. None of 
Mr Giang Sovann, Mr Chan Yu Meng or Mr Tan Ka Huat took 
part in the review of his own independence.

2.2 Independent directors make 
up a majority of the Board 
where the Chairman is not 
independent.

It is a requirement of the Code that independent directors 
should make up the majority of the board where the 
Chairman of the board: (i) is not an independent director; 
(ii) is also the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the company 
(or equivalent); (iii) is an immediate family member to the 
CEO; (iv) and the CEO have close family ties with each 
other (i.e. a familial relationship between two parties which 
extends beyond immediate family members and could 
influence the impartiality of the Chairman) as determined by 
the nominating committee; or (v) is part of the management 
team.
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As Mr Lim Eng Hong, the CEO of the Company, had been 
appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Board with 
effect from 27 October 2022, the Company is required to 
comply with this requirement of the Code. The Company 
has complied with this requirement of the Code as the 
Independent Directors do in fact make up the majority of the 
Board comprising 3 Independent Directors and 2 Executive 
Directors.

2.3 Non-executive directors make 
up a majority of the Board.

Non-Executive Directors make up the majority of the Board as 
the Company has, at any point in time during the financial 
year under review, a total of 5 Board members, of whom 3 
are Independent Directors and 2 are Executive Directors. 
The following details of the Directors are set out below as 
required under Rule 1207(10B) of the Listing Rules:

Director
Board 

Membership

Date of 
First 

Appointment 
as Director2

Date of Last 
Appointment 
as Director3 ARC NC RC

Lim Eng Hong Executive 
Chairman 
and CEO

16 May 1984 29 Oct 2024 – – –

Lim Tai Meng 
Alvin

Executive 
Director

1 Aug 2018 30 Oct 2023 – – –

Giang Sovann4 Lead 
Independent 
Director

29 Oct 2024 – Chairman Member Member

Chan Yu Meng Independent 
Director

27 Oct 2022 29 Oct 2024 Member Member Chairman

Tan Ka Huat Independent 
Director

30 Oct 2023 – Member Chairman Member

2.4 The Board and board 
committees are of an 
appropriate size, and comprise 
directors who as a group 
provide the appropriate 
balance and mix of skills, 
knowledge, experience, and 
other aspects of diversity such 
as gender and age, so as to 
avoid groupthink and foster 
constructive debate. The board 
diversity policy and progress 
made towards implementing 
the board diversity policy, 
including objectives, are 
disclosed in the company’s 
annual report.

The Board’s policy in identifying director nominees is primarily 
to have an appropriate mix of members with complementary 
skills, core competencies, knowledge and experience.

With reference to Rule 710A of the Listing Rules, the 
Company maintains a Board Diversity Policy which sets out 
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In terms of 
the composition of the Board, the Company seeks to have 
a Board that comprises directors who as a group provide 
an appropriate balance and mix of complementary skills, 
core competencies, knowledge, experience, and other 
aspects of diversity such as gender and age. All Board 
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates 
will be considered against objective criteria, having due 
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

2	 Including (where applicable) directorships of Avi-Tech Electronics Limited (now known as Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd.) prior to the 
corporate restructuring exercise in 2021.

3	 Including (where applicable) directorships of Avi-Tech Electronics Limited (now known as Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd.) prior to the 
corporate restructuring exercise in 2021.

4	 Mr Giang Sovann was appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the AGM held on 29 October 2024, and thereafter 
appointed as Chairman of the ARC and a member of the NC and RC on 29 October 2024. Mr Michael Grenville Gray retired as Lead 
Independent Director of the Company at the conclusion of the AGM held on 29 October 2024.
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Further details of the Board Diversity Policy are available on 
the Company’s website at www.avi-tech.com.sg. Please also 
refer to the information relating to the current balance and 
diversity of the Board, as set out in the table below.

The Board and the NC review the board composition 
annually in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy. As 
such, the Board will take the following steps:

•	 annual review by the NC to assess if the existing 
attributes and core competencies of the Board are 
complementary and will enhance the efficacy of the 
Board; and

•	 annual evaluation by the Directors of the skill sets the 
other Directors possess, with a view to understanding 
the range of expertise which is lacking by the Board.

The NC will consider the results of these exercises in its 
recommendation for the appointment of new Directors 
and/or the re-appointment of incumbent Directors.

The Company’s targets and plans to achieve diversity 
involves the NC reviewing and assessing the Board’s 
composition for diversity from time to time and at least on an 
annual basis, taking into account a wide variety of factors, 
as set out above, and making relevant and appropriate 
recommendations to the Board.

In conducting the annual review, the determination of 
appropriate targets and plans for diversity will also depend 
on the business and operational circumstances, objectives 
and strategies of the Company at the relevant time and 
deciding if the current composition of Directors suitably 
meets the prevailing needs of the Company.

In respect of the financial year under review, the Board 
considers that the present composition of the Board and of 
each Board committee provides an appropriate balance 
and mix of skills, knowledge, experience and other aspects 
of diversity, taking into account the nature and scope of 
the Group’s operations, requirements of the business and 
the need to avoid undue disruptions from changes to the 
composition of the Board and Board committees. The Board 
also considers the current size of the Board and of each 
Board committee ideal for effective debate and decision-
making. The Directors bring with them a wide spectrum of 
industry knowledge and skills, experience in accounting, 
finance, legal and business strategies, management 
expertise, customer-based experience, knowledge of the 
Group and objective perspective to effectively lead and 
direct the Group. Profiles of the Directors are set out in this 
Annual Report.
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Balance and Diversity of the Board

Core Competencies
Number of 
Directors

Proportion of 
the Board

Accounting or finance 
related 1 20%
Business and 
management experience 2 40%
Legal or corporate 
governance 1 20%
Strategic planning 
experience 1 20%
Environmental, social, 
governance and climate 
change related 1 20%
Gender Diversity
Male 5 100%
Female – –

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2023, 
the Company made strides in enhancing its diversity 
by appointing a younger, legally trained director with a 
background in capital markets and compliance. In respect 
of the financial year ended 30 June 2024, the Company 
further enriched its breadth of experience by bringing on 
board another Independent Director, who formerly served 
as a managing director for a previously SGX-listed company 
specialising in the semiconductor industry. In respect of 
the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Company has 
continued to strengthen its Board via the appointment 
of a new Independent Director trained in accountancy 
and financial management with more than 10 years of 
experience serving as an independent director of companies 
listed on the SGX-ST. The Board has also upheld age diversity, 
featuring Directors whose ages span from the under-50s age 
group to the over-70s age group.
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The Board has therefore made demonstrable progress on 
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, with the 
fundamental principle being that the candidate must be 
of right fit and meet the relevant needs and vision of the 
Company. With respect to gender diversity, the Company 
wishes to highlight that it has sought to identify suitable 
female candidates for appointment to the Board, and 
had, in the financial year ended 30 June 2024, specifically 
shortlisted a female candidate for consideration. After 
careful deliberation and discussion of each candidate’s 
merits by the NC and the Board, the NC and the Board had 
determined that Mr Giang Sovann, with his prior experience 
as an independent director of other SGX-ST listed companies, 
is better positioned to contribute to the Company at this 
time. For completeness, in the process of deliberation and 
discussion on the respective candidates, the NC and Board 
had considered the possibility of nominating both the 
shortlisted female candidate and Mr. Giang Sovann to stand 
for election at the AGM held on 29 October 2024. However, 
having regard to the Company’s size, revenue, expenses 
and operational needs, the NC and Board are of the view 
that: (a) the current Board size of 5 members is appropriate; 
and (b) for a Board of 5 members, having 3 Independent 
Directors would provide the Board with an appropriate level 
of independence.

The Board remains committed to promoting gender diversity 
and continues to actively identify and nurture female talent 
for leadership positions. At the same time, the Board is 
confident that the current composition, including the 
appointment of Mr. Giang Sovann with his independent 
directorship experience, meets the necessary requirements 
for strong governance and oversight. The Board remains 
committed to its diversity values as part of the Company’s 
long-term planning. The Company is therefore of the view 
that the intent of Principle 2 has been met.

As indicated in the preceding paragraph, the Board 
recognises the importance and value of gender diversity. 
Consequently, for future Board appointments, the Board 
will consider gender (as well as skill sets, knowledge and 
experience of prospective candidates). Any new directors 
will continue to be selected based on objective criteria set 
as part of the process for appointment of new directors and 
Board succession planning.
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As discussed above, the NC recognises that the current 
Board reflects a balanced combination of skills, experience 
and age, and believes that the Board is appropriately 
diversified in those respects. The remaining diversity gap 
relates to gender representation. Accordingly, the Board 
has adopted a measurable target to appoint at least one 
additional director of the under-represented gender by the 
financial year ending 30 June 2026. This target will be met 
in the context of a rigorous selection process that ensures 
each candidate demonstrates appropriate skills, knowledge 
and experience suitable for the Company’s needs and 
strategic direction. The Board will engage the NC, and 
where necessary reputable external search advisors, to 
identify a strong and suitably qualified pool of candidates 
that includes diverse gender representation but does not 
compromise on merit. The NC will monitor progress and 
report on developments in the next annual report.

2.5 Non-executive directors and/
or independent directors, led 
by the independent Chairman 
or other independent director 
as appropriate, meet regularly 
without the presence of 
Management. The chairman 
of such meetings provides 
feedback to the Board and/or 
Chairman as appropriate.

In the financial year under review, the Non-Executive 
Directors met regularly and at least once annually without 
the presence of management and the Executive Directors, 
to review any matters that they wish to raise privately, 
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on 
company strategy, review the performance of management 
in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the 
reporting of performance. The Lead Independent Director 
provides feedback to the Board as appropriate.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle

3. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and 
Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Provision Disclosure

3.1 The Chairman and the CEO are 
separate persons to ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, 
increased accountability, and 
greater capacity of the Board 
for independent decision-
making.

The Code provides that the Chairman and the CEO should 
in principle be separate persons to ensure an appropriate 
balance of power, increased accountability and greater 
capacity for independent decision-making.

Mr Lim Eng Hong, the CEO of the Company, had been 
appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Board with effect 
from 27 October 2022. This is a variation from Provision 3.1 
of the Code.

Mr Lim Eng Hong is the founder of the Group and has more 
than 40 years of experience in the semiconductor industry. 
Mr Lim Eng Hong oversees the Group’s overall business 
activities and strategy.
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The NC, with the concurrence of the Board, is of the opinion 
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and CEO in the same 
person who is knowledgeable in the business of the Group 
provides strong and consistent leadership and enables 
the effective planning and execution of long-term business 
strategies. Under the present circumstances, it is beneficial 
to the Company that the roles of the Chairman and CEO 
are not separated. The NC will periodically review the 
need to separate the roles and make its recommendations 
accordingly for the Board’s consideration. The role of 
Mr Lim Eng Hong as the Executive Chairman and CEO 
of the Company does not affect Board independence 
as the majority of the Board is made up of Independent 
Directors, and all of the Board Committees (including the 
Chairman of the respective Board Committees) are formed 
by Independent Directors.

Nevertheless, to further ensure good governance, the Board 
has appointed Mr Giang Sovann as the Lead Independent 
Director of the Company. The Lead Independent Director 
will be available to shareholders where they have concerns 
for which contact through the normal channels of 
communication with the Chairman or Management are 
inappropriate or inadequate. He will also meet periodically 
with the other Independent Directors (without the presence 
of Management or the Executive Directors), and provide 
feedback to the Executive Chairman after such meeting. 
Other specific roles of the Lead Independent Director are 
as follows:

•	 act as liaison between the Independent Directors 
and the Executive Chairman and CEO and lead 
the Independent Directors to provide non-executive 
perspectives in circumstances where it would be 
inappropriate for the Executive Chairman to serve 
in such a capacity and to contribute a balanced 
viewpoint to the Board;

•	 advise the Executive Chairman as to the quality, 
quantity and timeliness of the information submitted 
by Management that is necessary or appropriate for 
the Independent Directors to effectively and responsibly 
perform their duties; and

•	 assist the Board and officers of the Company 
in complying with and implementing corporate 
governance measures.

Given the above arrangements, the Company is of the view 
that there is an appropriate balance of power on the Board, 
the Board members are accountable for their decisions, and 
there is a strong and independent element on the Board. The 
Company is therefore of the view that the intent of Principle 
3 has been met.
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3.2 The Board establishes and sets 
out in writing the division of 
responsibilities between the 
Chairman and the CEO.

As set out in the Board’s written terms of reference, the role 
of the Chairman is to, inter alia:

•	 lead the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects 
of its role;

•	 set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is 
available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular 
strategic issues;

•	 promote a culture of openness and debate at the 
Board;

•	 ensure effective communication with shareholders;

•	 encourage constructive relations within the Board and 
between the Board and management; and

•	 promote high standards of corporate governance.

and the role of the CEO is to, inter alia:

•	 develop, with the Board, a consensus for the Company’s 
vision and mission;

•	 develop and implement the strategic plan set by the 
Board;

•	 provide strong leadership and effective day-to-day 
management of the Company to deliver the plan;

•	 drive a culture of compliance and ethical behaviour;

•	 ensure appropriate talent management and 
remuneration frameworks are established; and

•	 ensure that the Board is informed about key company 
activities and issues.

3.3 The Board has a lead 
independent director to 
provide leadership in situations 
where the Chairman is 
conflicted, and especially 
when the Chairman is not 
independent. The lead 
independent director is 
available to shareholders 
where they have concerns 
and for which contact 
through the normal channels 
of communication with the 
Chairman or Management are 
inappropriate or inadequate.

As Mr Lim Eng Hong, the CEO of the Company, had been 
appointed as the Executive Chairman of the Board with 
effect from 27 October 2022, the Board has appointed 
Mr Giang Sovann as the Lead Independent Director of 
the Company on 29 October 2024. As Lead Independent 
Director, Mr Giang Sovann will be available to shareholders 
where they have concerns for which contact through the 
normal channels of communication with the Chairman or 
Management are inappropriate or inadequate.
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BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle

4. The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Provision Disclosure

4.1 The Board establishes a 
Nominating Committee (“NC”) 
to make recommendations to 
the Board on relevant matters 
relating to:

(a)	 the review of succession 
plans for directors, 
in  part icular  the 
appointment  and/
or replacement of the 
Chairman, the CEO 
and key management 
personnel;

(b)	 the process and criteria 
for evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, 
its board committees and 
directors;

(c)	 the review of training and 
professional development 
programmes for the 
Board and its directors; 
and

(d)	 the appointment and re-
appointment of directors 
( including alternate 
directors, if any).

The NC is regulated by a set of written terms of reference 
endorsed by the Board, setting out its authority and duties. 
According to its terms of reference, the responsibilities of the 
NC include reviewing and making recommendations to the 
Board relating to:

•	 the structure, size and composition of the Board and 
the Board Committees;

•	 succession plans for the Board Chairman, Directors, 
CEO and members of senior management;

•	 the development of a transparent process for evaluating 
the performance of the Board, its Board Committees 
and Directors, including assessing whether Directors 
are able to commit enough time to discharge their 
responsibilities and the maximum number of listed 
company board representations which a Director may 
hold;

•	 training and professional development programmes for 
the Board;

•	 appointment and re-appointment of all Directors 
(including any alternate directors); and

•	 the review and confirmation of the independence of 
each Director.

No alternate directors have been appointed to the Board.

In this report, the Company defines the term “key 
management personnel” to mean the CEO and Executive 
Officers of the Company. The term “Executive Officers” 
carries the same meaning as defined in the Listing Rules.

4.2 The NC comprises at least 
three directors, the majority 
of whom, including the NC 
Chairman, are independent. 
The lead independent director, 
if any, is a member of the NC.

The NC comprises the following 3 Directors, all of whom are 
independent: Mr Tan Ka Huat – Chairman; Mr Giang Sovann 
– Member; and Mr Chan Yu Meng – Member. Mr Giang 
Sovann is the Lead Independent Director of the Company.
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4.3 The company discloses the 
process for the selection, 
appointment and re-
appointment of directors to the 
Board, including the criteria 
used to identify and evaluate 
potential new directors and 
channels used in searching 
for appropriate candidates in 
the company’s annual report.

In the selection and nomination of new Directors, the NC 
identifies the key attributes that an incoming Director should 
have, based on the attributes of the existing Board and the 
requirements of the Group. The NC then taps on the Directors’ 
resources for recommendations of potential candidates. 
Executive recruitment agencies may also be appointed to 
assist in the search process where necessary. The potential 
candidates will go through a shortlisting process. Interviews 
are then set up with the shortlisted candidates for the NC 
to assess them before a decision is made. When reviewing 
and assessing the composition of the Board and making 
recommendations to the Board for the appointment of 
directors, the NC will consider all aspects of diversity in order 
to arrive at an optimum balanced composition of the Board. 
Upon a recommendation being made by the NC, a new 
Director can be appointed by way of a Board resolution. 
Such Directors must present themselves for re-election at 
the next AGM of the Company as required under the 
Constitution.

Important issues to be considered as part of the process for 
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors 
include the composition and progressive renewal of the 
Board and each Director’s competencies, commitment, 
contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, 
preparedness, participation and candour) including, if 
applicable, as an Independent Director.

The Directors (including the CEO) submit themselves for 
re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at 
least once in 3 years in compliance with the Company’s 
Constitution and Rule 720(5) of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST. The Constitution provides that one-third of the 
Board is to retire from the office annually by rotation at the 
AGM. Retiring Directors are eligible to offer themselves for 
re-election. The NC has recommended the nomination of 
Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin and Mr Tan Ka Huat for re-election 
at the forthcoming AGM. The Board has accepted the NC’s 
recommendation.

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, 
additional information on the Directors seeking election/
re-election has been set out in the section titled “Additional 
Information on Directors Seeking Election/Re-Election” which 
is appended to the Notice of AGM.

The Company is of the view that the Board members’ 
collection of skills, experience and diversity meets the current 
needs of the Company. Please refer to the Company’s 
disclosure in respect of Provision 2.4 above for further details.
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4.4 The NC determines 
annually, and as and when 
circumstances require, if a 
director is independent, having 
regard to the circumstances set 
forth in Provision 2.1. Directors 
disclose their relationships 
with the company, its related 
corporations, its substantial 
shareholders or its officers, if 
any, which may affect their 
independence, to the Board. 
If the Board, having taken 
into account the views of the 
NC, determines that such 
directors are independent 
notwithstanding the existence 
of such relationships, the 
company discloses the 
relationships and its reasons 
in its annual report.

Please refer to our disclosure in respect of Provision 2.1 
above.

4.5 The NC ensures that new 
directors are aware of their 
duties and obligations. The NC 
also decides if a director is able 
to and has been adequately 
carrying out his or her duties 
as a director of the company. 
The company discloses in 
its annual report the listed 
company directorships and 
principal commitments of 
each director, and where a 
director holds a significant 
number of such directorships 
and commitments, it provides 
the NC’s and Board’s reasoned 
assessment of the ability of the 
director to diligently discharge 
his or her duties.

Please refer to our disclosures in respect of Provision 1.2 
above with regard to new Directors’ induction into the Board, 
briefing on their duties and the receipt of mandatory training 
as prescribed by the SGX-ST. Key information regarding 
the Directors’ profiles, including directorships both present 
and those held over the preceding 5 years in other listed 
companies, and other principal commitments, are set out in 
this Annual Report. The shareholdings of the Directors in the 
Company are set out in the Directors’ Statement.

The NC determines annually whether each Director with 
multiple directorships or other principal commitments outside 
of the Group is able to and has been adequately carrying out 
his duties as a Director of the Company. The NC takes into 
account the attendance and contributions of the Directors at 
Board and Board committee meetings, level of commitment 
required of the Director’s other principal commitments, 
degree of complexity of the other listed companies where 
the Director holds directorships, expectations of the Director’s 
obligations in the capacity as director in other organisations, 
results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole and Board committees, and the respective 
Directors’ actual conduct and participation on the Board 
and its Board committees, in making the determination. In 
respect of the financial year under review, the NC was of 
the view that each Director has given sufficient time and 
attention to the affairs of the Company and has been able 
to discharge his duties as director effectively notwithstanding 
their multiple directorships (where applicable) and other 
principal commitments. The NC noted that based on the 
attendance of Board and Board committee meetings during 
the financial year under review, all the Directors were able to 
participate in all of such meetings to carry out their duties.
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Nonetheless, to ensure that the Directors continue to give 
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company, 
the Board has, subject to annual review, determined that 
the maximum number of listed company directorships which 
any Director may hold shall be 5. If the NC considers it 
necessary, it shall make recommendations to the Board on 
the guidelines to be implemented to address the competing 
time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple 
boards and with other principal commitments.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle

5. The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that 
of each of its board committees and individual directors.

Provision Disclosure

5.1 The NC recommends for the 
Board’s approval the objective 
performance criteria and 
process for the evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole, and of each board 
committee separately, as well 
as the contribution by the 
Chairman and each individual 
director to the Board.

The NC has implemented a formal Board evaluation process, 
approved by the Board, to be carried out annually to assess 
the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its Board 
committees, namely, the ARC, NC and RC. For the financial 
year under review, an evaluation of the performance of the 
Board and its Board committees, and the contribution by 
the Chairman and each Director to the effectiveness of the 
Board and its Board committees (where applicable), was 
conducted.

5.2 The company discloses in 
its annual report how the 
assessments of the Board, its 
board committees and each 
director have been conducted, 
including the identity of any 
external facilitator and its 
connection, if any, with the 
company or any of its directors.

The objective of the evaluation process is to assess and 
identify areas for continuous improvement to the Board’s 
overall effectiveness. The assessment of the Board as a whole 
is conducted by way of a Board evaluation questionnaire 
completed by the Directors, which assesses the Board as a 
whole on several parameters, namely, the Board composition, 
maintenance of independence, Board information, Board 
processes, Board accountability, communication with top 
management and standard of conduct.

An evaluation of the performance of the Board committees 
was also undertaken with the assistance of self-assessment 
checklists completed by the members of each Board 
committee collectively. Directors were also required to 
complete appraisal forms to assess the contributions made 
by each of the other Directors towards the effectiveness of 
the Board.
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The NC assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and its Board committees, and the contribution by each 
Director to the effectiveness of the Board, with input from the 
CEO. The appraisal process focuses on a set of performance 
criteria which includes the evaluation of the Board 
composition and size, the Board process, Board effectiveness 
and training, the provision of information to the Board, Board 
standards of conduct and financial performance indicators. 
Such performance criteria are recommended by the NC and 
approved by the Board and they address how the Board has 
enhanced long-term shareholder value. The performance 
criteria allow for comparison with industry peers and do not 
change from year to year unless circumstances render it 
necessary and a decision to change them would be justified 
by the Board. The assessment parameters for each Director 
include attendance record at the meetings of the Board 
and the Board committees and quality of participation at 
meetings as well as special contributions.

The consolidated findings are reported and 
recommendations are made to the Board for consideration 
of further improvements to help the Board to discharge its 
duties more effectively. Where appropriate, the Chairman 
will act on the results of such evaluation and, in consultation 
with the NC and if necessary, propose new members to be 
appointed to the Board or seek the resignation of directors.

The NC, having reviewed the performance of the Board in 
terms of its roles and responsibilities and the conduct of its 
affairs as a whole, is of the view that the Board and the Board 
committees have operated efficiently, the Board has met its 
performance objectives and each Director has contributed 
to the overall effectiveness of the Board in the financial year 
under review.

No external facilitator was appointed for the evaluation of 
the Board and the Board committees during the financial 
year under review.

Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any 
resolutions and making any recommendations and/or 
participating in any deliberations of the NC in respect of 
the assessment of his performance or re-nomination as a 
Director.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS: PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle

6. The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and 
executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and 
key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Provision Disclosure

6.1 The Board establishes a 
Remuneration Committee 
(“RC”) to review and make 
recommendations to the Board 
on:

(a)	 a  f ramework  o f 
r e m u n e r a t i o n  f o r 
the Board and key 
management personnel; 
and

(b)	 the specific remuneration 
packages for each 
director as well as for 
the key management 
personnel.

The RC is regulated by a set of written terms of reference 
endorsed by the Board setting out its authority and duties. 
According to its terms of reference, the responsibilities of 
the RC include reviewing and making recommendations 
to the Board on:

•	 a framework of remuneration for Directors and Executive 
Officers, and determining the specific remuneration 
packages for each Director as well as for the Executive 
Officers, such recommendations to cover all aspects 
of remuneration, including but not limited to, Directors’ 
fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, share-
based incentives and awards, benefits in kind, and 
termination payments;

•	 performance-related elements of remuneration to 
align interests of Executive Directors and Executive 
Officers with those of shareholders and link rewards to 
corporate and individual performance; and

•	 considering whether Directors should be eligible for 
benefits under long-term incentive schemes.

6.2 The RC comprises at least 
three directors. All members 
of the RC are non-executive 
directors, the majority of whom, 
including the RC Chairman, 
are independent.

The RC comprises 3 Directors, all of whom are non-executive 
and independent: Mr Chan Yu Meng – Chairman; Mr Giang 
Sovann – Member; Mr Tan Ka Huat – Member.

6.3 The RC considers all aspects 
of remuneration, including 
termination terms, to ensure 
they are fair.

The aim of the RC is to motivate and retain Directors and 
Executive Officers without being excessive, and ensure that 
the Company is able to attract and retain the best talent in 
the market to drive the Group’s businesses forward in order 
to maximise long-term shareholder value.

During the financial year under review, the RC reviewed 
and made recommendations in relation to the general 
remuneration framework for the Board, as well as regarding 
the specific remuneration packages of the Directors and 
Executive Officers, and submitted them for endorsement by 
the entire Board.

Each member of the RC will abstain from voting and 
discussing on any resolutions in respect of his own 
remuneration package.
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The RC reviews the Company’s obligations arising in the 
event of termination of the contracts of service of Executive 
Directors and Executive Officers to ensure that such contracts 
of service contain fair and reasonable termination clauses 
which are not overly generous. The RC aims to be fair 
and avoid rewarding poor performance when setting the 
remuneration packages of the Executive Director and 
Executive Officers.

6.4 The company discloses 
the engagement of any 
remuneration consultants and 
their independence in the 
company’s annual report.

While none of the members of the RC specialise in the field of 
executive compensation, the members of the RC do possess 
broad knowledge in this area and have access to external 
professional advice. The RC is competent in reviewing and 
recommending to the Board the appropriate remuneration 
framework for Directors and Executive Officers in accordance 
with the terms of reference duly adopted by the Board. 
No external remuneration consultants were appointed for 
the financial year under review. However, in reviewing and 
recommending to the Board the appropriate remuneration 
framework for Directors and Executive Officers, the RC had 
reviewed remuneration surveys published by consulting 
groups and the government. As and when deemed 
appropriate by the RC, independent expert advice on the 
remuneration of Directors will be sought at the Company’s 
expense. The RC shall ensure that existing relationships, if 
any, between the Company and its appointed remuneration 
consultants will not affect the independence and objectivity 
of the remuneration consultants.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle

7. The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are 
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the 
company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the company.

Provision Disclosure

7.1 A significant and appropriate 
proportion of executive 
directors’ and key management 
personnel’s remuneration is 
structured so as to link rewards 
to corporate and individual 
performance. Performance-
related remuneration is aligned 
with the interests of shareholders 
and other stakeholders and 
promotes the long-term success 
of the company.

The remuneration components of the Executive Directors and 
Executive Officers comprise the annual fixed cash, annual 
performance incentives and, where applicable, long-term 
incentives.

The annual review of compensation is carried out by the RC 
to ensure that the remuneration components are market 
competitive and commensurate with the performance of 
each Executive Director and Executive Officer and that 
of the Company, giving due regard to the financial and 
commercial health and business needs of the Group.

The annual fixed cash component comprises the annual 
basic salary plus fixed allowances which the Company 
benchmarks against relevant industry market data, where 
available.
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The annual performance incentive variable bonus is tied 
to the performance of the Company, business unit and 
individual employee.

In respect of long-term incentives, the Company has adopted 
the Avi-Tech Restricted Share Plan 2021 (“RSP 2021”), a share 
incentive scheme under which performance-based or time-
based awards may be granted. For more details on the RSP 
2021, please refer to Avi-Tech Electronics Limited’s scheme 
document dated 6 October 2021.

7.2 The remuneration of non-
execut ive directors is 
appropriate to the level of 
contribution, taking into 
account factors such as effort, 
time spent, and responsibilities.

The Non-Executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees based on 
their level of contributions, taking into account factors such 
as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of each Non-
Executive Director in the Board and Board committees. The 
RC will ensure that the Non-Executive Directors are not over-
compensated to the extent that their independence may 
be compromised. The recommendations made by the RC in 
respect of the Non-Executive Directors’ fees for the financial 
year under review are subject to shareholders’ approval at 
the forthcoming AGM.

7.3 Remuneration is appropriate 
to attract, retain and motivate 
the directors to provide good 
stewardship of the company 
and key management 
personnel to successfully 
manage the company for the 
long term.

The RC exercises broad discretion and independent 
judgement in ensuring that the amount and mix of 
compensation are aligned with the interests of shareholders, 
promote the long-term success of the Company, and 
recognise the performance, potential and responsibilities 
of each individual. The mix of fixed and variable rewards is 
considered appropriate for the Group and for each individual 
role. The performance-related remuneration structure is 
directly linked to corporate and individual performance. 
The RC also recognises the need for reasonable alignment 
between risk and performance-related remuneration to 
discourage excessive risk-taking. As such, in determining 
the performance-related remuneration structure, the RC had 
taken into account the risk policies and risk tolerance of the 
Group, and whether such remuneration is symmetric with risk 
outcomes and sensitive to the time horizon of risks.

The Company has two Executive Directors. The remuneration 
package of Mr Lim Eng Hong is based on terms stipulated 
in his service contract. His remuneration includes a profit-
sharing scheme that is performance-related to align his 
interests with those of the shareholders. His service contract 
with the Company is for a fixed period and he does not 
receive any Directors’ fee.

The remuneration package of Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin is 
based on terms stipulated in his service contract. His service 
contract contains an annual performance incentive variable 
bonus as described in our disclosures in respect of Provision 
7.1 above and does not contain a profit-sharing scheme. His 
service contract with the Company is for a fixed period and 
he does not receive any Directors’ fee.
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The Company is of the view that there is no requirement 
to institute contractual provisions to allow the Company 
to reclaim incentive components of the Executive 
Directors’ remuneration paid in prior years in exceptional 
circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of 
misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company, as 
the Executive Directors owe fiduciary duties to the Company 
and the Company should be able to avail itself of remedies 
against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach 
of fiduciary duties.

The Company is of the view that the variable component 
of the remuneration packages of the Executive Officers is 
moderate and not at risk of jeopardising good stewardship. 
At present, there is no necessity for the Company to institute 
contractual provisions in the service agreements to reclaim 
incentive components of remuneration paid in prior years 
from the Executive Officers in exceptional circumstances of 
misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting 
in financial loss to the Company.

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle

8. The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, 
the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, 
performance and value creation.

Provision Disclosure

8.1 The company discloses in 
its annual report the policy 
and criteria for setting 
remuneration, as well as 
names, amounts and 
breakdown of remuneration of:

(a)	 each individual director 
and the CEO; and

(b)	 at least the top five key 
management personnel 
(who are not directors 
or the CEO) in bands no 
wider than $250,000 and 
in aggregate the total 
remuneration paid to 
these key management 
personnel.

The disclosure in respect of Provisions 7.1 and 7.3 above 
describes the components of each Executive Director and 
Executive Officer’s remuneration, comprising the fixed salary 
and annual performance incentives, as well as explains how 
the annual review of compensation is carried out by the RC 
to ensure that the remuneration components are market-
competitive and commensurate with the performance of 
each Executive Director and Executive Officer and that of the 
Company. In reviewing the annual performance incentive 
variable bonus, considerations are tied to the performance 
of the Company, business unit and individual employee, 
and entitlement to such annual incentives are subject 
to benchmarking performance against industry business 
operation expectations and performance that exceeds 
such expectations, as well as measuring performance 
based on the Company’s financial performance vis-à-vis 
industry performance. It is also disclosed that the RC 
exercises judgement in ensuring that the amount and mix of 
compensation are aligned with the interests of shareholders 
and promote the long-term success of the Company. The 
Company sees value creation as increasing returns to 
shareholders by improving revenue and profits. Please refer 
to our disclosure in respect of Principle 7 above for further 
details on the Company’s policy and criteria for setting 
remuneration for Directors and Executive Officers.
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The RC has recommended to the Board an amount of 
$150,000 as Directors’ fees for the financial year under 
review. This recommendation will be tabled for shareholders’ 
approval at the forthcoming AGM.

With reference to Rule 1207(10D) of the Listing Manual 
and Provision 8.1(a), the names, amounts and breakdown 
of the remuneration (showing the level and mix) of the 
Non-Executive Directors, the Executive Directors and the CEO 
for the financial year under review are disclosed below:

Non-Executive 
Directors

Fee(1) 

($)
Salary 

($)

Variable 
Bonus 

($)

Benefits 
in kind 

($)
Total 
($)

Giang 
Sovann5

33,333 
(100%)

– – – 33,333

Chan Yu 
Meng

50,000 
(100%)

– – – 50,000

Tan Ka Huat 50,000 
(100%)

– – – 50,000

Michael 
Grenville 
Gray6

16,667 
(100%)

– – – 16,667

Note:
(1)	 For the Non-Executive Directors, their remuneration is paid solely in the 

form of Directors’ fees. These Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the forthcoming AGM.

Executive 
Directors & 
CEO

Fee 
($)

Salary 
($)

Variable 
Bonus 

($)

Benefits 
in kind 

($)
Total 
($)

Lim Eng Hong – 342,820 
(70%)

105,000 
(21%)

45,913 
(9%)

493,733

Lim Tai Meng 
Alvin(1)

– 216,722 
(84%)

36,000 
(14%)

6,000 
(2%)

258,722

Note:
(1)	 Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin is the son of Mr Lim Eng Hong, the Company’s CEO 

and Executive Chairman, Director and controlling shareholder.

5	 Mr Giang Sovann was appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the AGM held on 29 October 2024, and thereafter 
appointed as Chairman of the ARC and a member of the NC and RC on 29 October 2024.

6	 Mr Michael Grenville Gray retired as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the conclusion of the AGM held on 29 October 
2024.
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As required under Provision 8.1(b), a breakdown, showing 
the level and mix of the top Executive Officers’ remuneration 
(in bands of $250,000) for the financial year under review, 
is as follows:

Name Salary
Variable 

Bonus
Benefits 
in kind Total

Band B(1) % % % %

Joseph Wang Nin 
Choon 86 14 – 100

Band A(2) % % % %

Lau Toon Hai(3) 85 15 – 100

Notes:
(1)	 Band B means from $250,000 up to $499,999
(2)	 Band A means from $1 up to $249,999
(3) Mr Lau has since retired from the Company with effect from 20 May 2025

The Company considers the heads of the corporate 
functions and the Vice Presidents to be the Executive Officers 
and top key management personnel of the Company 
(who are not Directors or the CEO) for the financial year 
under review and pursuant thereto, there were only two 
key management personnel in the financial year under 
review. The total remuneration paid to the above Executive 
Officers is not more than $500,000 in the financial year 
under review. The Company is of the view that the disclosure 
of the upper limit of the total remuneration paid to the two 
key management personnel is substantially in compliance 
with Provision 8.1(b) of the Code, as it sufficiently informs that 
the total remuneration paid does not specifically exceed 
the amount stated.

In view of the foregoing, the Company believes that the 
Annual Report, taken as a whole, has sufficient transparency 
on the Company’s remuneration policies, level and mix 
of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration 
and the relationships between remuneration, performance 
and value creation, which is consistent with the intent of 
Principle 8 of the Code.
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8.2 The company discloses the 
names and remuneration 
of employees who are 
substantial shareholders of the 
company, or are immediate 
family members of a director, 
the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the company, 
and whose remuneration 
exceeds $100,000 during the 
year, in bands no wider than 
$100,000, in its annual report. 
The disclosure states clearly 
the employee’s relationship 
with the relevant director 
or the CEO or substantial 
shareholder.

Save as disclosed in respect of Provision 8.1 above, the 
Group did not employ any employees who are substantial 
shareholders of the Company, or are immediate family 
members of any Director, the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the Company. “Immediate family” means a 
spouse, child, adopted child, step-child, brother, sister or 
parent.

8.3 The company discloses in 
its annual report all forms 
of remuneration and other 
payments and benefits, paid 
by the company and its 
subsidiaries to directors and 
key management personnel of 
the company. It also discloses 
details of employee share 
schemes.

Please refer to our disclosure in respect of Provision 8.1 above 
for the Company’s disclosure of all forms of remuneration 
and other payments and benefits paid by the Company 
to Directors and top key management personnel. Persons 
appointed as directors of the Company’s subsidiaries 
comprise only Mr Lim Eng Hong, Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin, and 
Mr Joseph Wang Nin Choon who apart from receiving their 
remuneration from the Company, do not receive any further 
remuneration from any other companies within the Group.

As disclosed in respect of Provision 7.1 above, the Company 
has adopted the RSP 2021, a share incentive scheme under 
which performance-based or time-based awards may be 
granted. The aggregate number of shares which may be 
available pursuant to awards granted under the RSP 2021, 
when added to the number of new shares issued and 
issuable in respect of all awards granted under the RSP 2021, 
and all options or awards granted under any other option 
scheme or share plan which the Company may implement 
from time to time, shall not exceed 15% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) on the day 
preceding the relevant award date.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



As disclosed on page 109 of the prospectus of Avi-Tech 
Electronics Limited (now known as Avi-Tech Electronics 
Pte. Ltd.) dated 11 July 2007, the CEO does not receive 
any benefits upon the termination of his service contract. 
His service contract contains non-competition and 
non-solicitation clauses which are binding on the CEO 
for a period of 12 months from the date of cessation of 
employment with the Company. These obligations of non-
competition and non-solicitation shall be conditional upon: 
(i) shareholders’ approval pursuant to Rule 906 of the Listing 
Rules (if applicable) for the making by the Company to 
the CEO of 12 monthly payments of $40,000 each from the 
Company (totalling $480,000), (the “Payment(s)”); and 
(ii) the receipt of the Payment(s) by the CEO, the first 
payment of which shall be paid not later than the first day 
of the month immediately following the cessation date of 
employment with the Company, and, thereafter on the first 
day of each following month, time being of the essence. The 
Company is not obliged to make any Payment(s), or having 
made Payment(s) or parts thereof, to continue making such 
Payment(s) to the CEO, in the event the Company decides 
at any time, in its sole discretion, that the Company does not 
require the CEO to perform or continue performing the said 
non-competition and non-solicitation obligations.

Save as disclosed above, no other employees or Directors 
of the Company are entitled to any termination, retirement 
or post-employment benefits.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT: RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle

9. The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains 
a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the 
company and its shareholders.

Provision Disclosure

9.1 The Board determines the 
nature and extent of the 
significant risks which the 
company is willing to take 
in achieving its strategic 
objectives and value creation. 
The Board sets up a Board 
Risk Committee to specifically 
address this, if appropriate.

The Board is responsible for risk governance, establishing 
risk management policies and tolerance strategies that set 
the appropriate tone and direction, and also overseeing 
the implementation of the Company’s risk management 
framework to ensure that risks are identified and managed.

The ARC has been established by the Board to assist the 
Board in carrying out its responsibility of overseeing the 
Company’s risk management framework and policies. In 
addition, the Company has established a risk management 
committee comprised of senior executives and co-chaired 
by the CEO and CFO of the Company, which meets at least 
once annually, including attendance at a workshop on 
the Company’s risk management framework and policies. 
Directors are invited to provide their views and input at the 
workshop. The ARC reviews the findings from the workshop 
before making recommendations to the Board on the 
Company’s risk management framework and policies.
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The Company has put in place a risk management 
and internal control system in areas such as financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology 
controls. Risk management and internal controls are detailed 
in formal instructions, standard operating procedures and 
financial authority limits policies. The principal aim of the 
internal control system is the management of business risks 
with a view to safeguarding shareholders’ investments and 
the Group’s assets.

In particular, the Company’s Risk Governance and Internal 
Control (“RGIC”) framework was developed to realise the 
value of risk management by providing an integrated 
enterprise-wide perspective of the risks involved in the 
Company’s businesses, and institutionalising a systematic risk 
assessment methodology for the identification, assessment, 
management, reporting and monitoring of risks on a 
consistent and reliable basis. The RGIC Manual sets out, inter 
alia, the Board’s approved Risk Appetite and Risk Tolerance 
guidance, Authority and Risk Control Matrix, Key Control 
Activities and Key Reporting and Monitoring Activities to 
manage and mitigate risks.

The Company’s RGIC framework is constantly refined, 
ensuring relevance in a dynamic operating environment. 
The Company keeps abreast of the latest developments 
and best practices by participating in industry seminars 
and interacting with risk management practitioners. 
Continuous training is conducted to build risk awareness 
and competencies, and systems and tools are put in place 
to operationalise the risk management framework to support 
the Company’s RGIC framework.

The management maintains the risk management and 
internal control systems and the Board monitors the Group’s 
risks through the ARC and internal auditors. In designing 
these controls, the Company has considered the risks to 
which the business is exposed, the likelihood of such risks 
occurring and the costs of protecting against them.

The Board is committed to maintaining adequate and 
effective systems of internal controls (including financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology 
controls) and risk management systems to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests and investments, and the Group’s 
assets. The Board recognises the importance of establishing 
sound internal controls and risk management practices for 
good corporate governance. The Board affirms its overall 
responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal controls 
and risk management, and for reviewing the adequacy 
and effectiveness of those systems, including financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology 
controls, on an annual basis.
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On an ongoing basis, the Board periodically monitors and 
assesses the adequacy of the risk management systems 
that it has put in place and the system of internal controls, 
and ensure that management takes the appropriate steps 
to manage and mitigate risks.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
controls (including financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls) and risk management 
framework and systems, conducted dialogue sessions with 
the management to understand the process, and to identify, 
assess, manage and monitor risks within the Group.

The Company has established and maintains, on an ongoing 
basis, an effective internal audit function that is adequately 
resourced and independent of the activities it audits, as 
required under Rule 719(3) of the Listing Rules. The Board 
has engaged Baker Tilly Consultancy (Singapore) Pte Ltd, 
the outsourced internal auditor for the Group, during the 
financial year under review, to conduct an internal audit 
on selected key risk areas of the Group and to make 
recommendations to enhance the internal controls and risk 
management framework and systems.

During the financial year under review, the management 
updated the ARC and the Board on the Group’s risk profile, 
the status of risk mitigation action plans and updates on the 
following areas:

•	 identification of specific “risk owners” who are 
responsible for the risks identified;

•	 assessment of the Group’s key risks by major business 
units and risk categories;

•	 description of the processes and systems in place to 
identify and assess risks to the business and how risk 
information is collected on an ongoing basis;

•	 ongoing gaps in the risk management process such as 
system limitations in capturing and measuring risks, as 
well as action plans to address the gaps;

•	 status and changes in plans undertaken by the 
management to manage key risks; and

•	 description of the risk monitoring and escalation 
processes and also systems in place.

The Board also considered any additional information 
necessary to ensure that the Board has taken into account 
all significant aspects of risks and internal controls for the 
Group for the financial year under review.
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The Board relies on internal audit reports and the 
management letter prepared by the external auditors to 
report on any material non-compliance or internal control 
weaknesses. In line with the requirements under Rule 1207(10) 
of the Listing Rules, for the financial year under review, based 
on the risk management systems and internal controls 
established and maintained by the Group, work performed 
by the internal and external auditors, review of the internal 
audit plan and the internal auditors’ evaluation of the system 
of internal controls and reviews performed by management, 
various Board committees and the Board, the Board, with 
the concurrence of the ARC, is of the opinion that the 
Group’s internal controls (including financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology controls) and risk 
management systems are adequate and effective as at 
30 June 2025 to address financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology risks which the Group considers 
relevant and material to its current business scope and 
environment.

The system of risk management and internal controls 
established by the Group is designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s goals 
and objectives. The Board wishes to state that the system 
of internal controls provides reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance as to financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology risks. No such system can provide 
absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors 
and other situations not currently within the contemplation 
or beyond the control of the Board.

Please also refer to the “Letter to Shareholders” portion of 
the Annual Report on the Executive Chairman and CEO’s 
commentary of the significant trends and competitive 
conditions of the industry in which the Group operates.

9.2 The Board requires and 
discloses in the company’s 
annual report that it has 
received assurance from:

(a)	 the CEO and the Chief 
Financial Officer (“CFO”) 
that the financial records 
have been properly 
maintained and the 
financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the 
company’s operations 
and finances; and

The Board has received assurances from the CEO and the 
CFO that for the financial year under review, the financial 
records have been properly maintained and the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations 
and finances.

Based on the work performed by the internal and external 
auditors, the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems, addressing financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology risks, were adequate and effective 
as at 30 June 2025. The Board has received assurance 
from the CEO and other key management personnel that 
the aforementioned risk management and internal control 
systems are adequate and effective.
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(b)	 the CEO and other key 
management personnel 
who are responsible, 
regarding the adequacy 
and effectiveness of 
the company’s risk 
management  and 
internal control systems.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle

10. The Board has an Audit Committee (“AC”) which discharges its duties objectively.

Provision Disclosure

10.1 The duties of the AC include:

(a)	 reviewing the significant 
financial reporting issues 
and judgements so as 
to ensure the integrity of 
the financial statements 
of the company and any 
announcements relating 
to the company’s financial 
performance;

(b)	 reviewing at least 
annually the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the 
company’s internal controls 
and risk management 
systems;

(c)	 reviewing the assurance 
from the CEO and the CFO 
on the financial records 
and financial statements;

(d)	 making recommendations 
to the Board on: (i) 
the proposals to the 
shareholders on the 
appointment and removal 
of external auditors; and 
(ii) the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the 
external auditors;

(e)	 reviewing the adequacy, 
effectiveness, independence, 
scope and results of the 
external audit and the 
company’s internal audit 
function; and

The ARC is regulated by a set of written terms of reference 
endorsed by the Board, setting out its authority and duties.

The ARC has full access to, and co-operation from the 
management, and has full discretion to invite any Director, 
executive officer of the Company or other persons to attend 
its meetings. It may require any such Director, executive 
officer or other person in attendance to leave the meeting 
(temporarily or otherwise) to facilitate open discussion 
should they have an interest in the matter under discussion. 
The ARC also has explicit authority to investigate any matter 
brought to its attention, within its terms of reference, with 
the power to obtain professional advice at the Company’s 
expense. The ARC has reasonable resources to enable it to 
discharge its functions properly.

The members of the ARC also take measures to keep abreast 
of changes to accounting standards and issues which have 
a direct impact on financial statements as and when the 
ARC, or the Board or the Company, deems necessary and 
appropriate. Changes to the various accounting standards 
are monitored closely by management. Where these 
changes have an important bearing on the Company’s 
disclosure obligations, the Directors (including members of 
the ARC) are kept informed of such changes from time to 
time through circulation of the relevant changes which are 
also tabled during Board meetings.

According to its terms of reference, the responsibilities of the 
ARC include:

•	 reviewing significant financial reporting issues and 
judgements so as to ensure the integrity of financial 
statements and announcements on the Company’s 
financial performance, and making recommendations, 
if any, to the Board, and in particular, monitoring 
the integrity of the financial reports prepared by 
the Company and reviewing the application and 
consistency of the accounting standards used;
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(f)	 reviewing the policy 
and ar rangements 
for concerns about 
possible improprieties 
in financial reporting or 
other matters to be safely 
raised, independently 
i n v e s t i g a t e d  a n d 
appropriately followed 
up on. The company 
publicly discloses, and 
clearly communicates to 
employees, the existence 
of a whistle-blowing 
policy and procedures for 
raising such concerns.

•	 reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems (including 
financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls), and state whether the ARC 
concurs with the Board’s comment on adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and 
risk management systems;

•	 reviewing the assurance provided by the CEO and 
CFO that the financial records have been properly 
maintained, and that the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Company’s operations and 
finances;

•	 reviewing the performance of the external auditors and 
facilitating its selection, appointment, reappointment, 
and removal by considering such factors including an 
assessment of their effectiveness through the level of 
errors identified, accuracy in handling key accounting 
and audit judgements, and response to queries from 
the ARC and then recommending to the Board the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the 
external auditors and its remuneration and terms of 
engagement;

•	 reviewing the scope and results of the external audit, 
and the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors, in particular, monitoring and assessing 
annually whether the external auditors’ independence 
or objectivity is impaired by considering such factors 
including the amount of fees paid to the external 
auditors for the financial year, and the breakdown 
of aggregate fees for audit and non-audit services 
provided by the external auditors;

•	 reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, 
scope and results of the Company’s internal audit 
function by, inter alia, monitoring and assessing the 
role and effectiveness of the internal audit function, 
including the internal audit charter, plans, activities, 
staffing, budget, resources, and organisational 
structure of the internal audit function; and

•	 overseeing the establishment and operation of the 
whistleblowing process in the Company and ensuring 
that policies and arrangements are in place by 
which staff may safely raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters and 
ensuring that there are appropriate arrangements for 
an independent investigation and appropriate follow-
up on concerns raised.
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During the financial year under review, the ARC performed 
the following main functions (amongst other duties) in 
accordance with its written terms of reference:

•	 reviewing the terms of reference for the ARC annually;

•	 recommending to the Board the appointment 
or reappointment of the internal and/or external 
auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms 
of engagement of the internal and/or external auditors, 
after taking into account, amongst other things, the 
auditors’ performance for the financial year under 
review and the requirements of the Group;

•	 reviewing the scope and results of the external audit as 
well as the internal audit plan and process to determine 
that it meets the requirements of the Group;

•	 evaluating the independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors;

•	 reviewing the Group’s periodic financial statements 
(as required under the Listing Rules) and related notes 
and announcements relating thereto, accounting 
principles adopted, and the external auditors’ reports 
to ensure proper disclosure and compliance prior to 
recommending to the Board for approval;

•	 reviewing and evaluating, having regard to input 
from external and internal auditors, the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 
controls and risk management functions, which include 
internal financial controls, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls and risk management 
policies and systems;

•	 reviewing the nature, scope, extent and cost-
effectiveness of any non-audit services provided by 
the external auditors and ensuring that these do not 
affect the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors;

•	 reviewing any significant financial reporting issues and 
judgments and estimates made by the management, 
so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Group; and

•	 reviewing the independence, adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal auditors.
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During the financial year under review, the ARC also 
reviewed:

•	 the periodic results announcement (as required under 
the Listing Rules) together with the external auditors of 
the Company prior to its recommendations to the Board 
for approval for release on SGXNET and any changes to 
accounting standards and issues which have a direct 
impact on financial statements will be raised at such 
meetings;

•	 the audit plan and scope of examination of the external 
auditors and the assistance given by the Group’s 
officers to the external auditors and noted that no 
restriction was imposed by the management on the 
scope and extent of the external audit;

•	 the Group’s full-year results announcement, the financial 
statements of the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the financial year 
under review prior to its recommendations to the Board 
for approval; and

•	 the statement of the external auditors of the Company 
about their reporting responsibilities for the financial 
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s 
Report” which is found in this Annual Report.

Key Audit Matters

The ARC reviewed the key audit matter on allowance for 
slow-moving and obsolete inventories, included in the 
independent auditor’s report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2025. The ARC discussed in detail with management 
the amounts, value and age of older inventory and the 
approach and methodology applied in the assessment of 
making allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventory as 
well as the reasonableness of the key sources of estimation 
uncertainty used as disclosed in Note 3 to the financial 
statements. The ARC concluded that the Company’s 
accounting treatment in the allowance for slow-moving and 
obsolete inventories was appropriate.
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External Auditors

Before confirming the external auditors’ re-appointment, the 
ARC will conduct an annual review of the independence 
of the Company’s external auditors and the total fees for 
non-audit services compared with audit services, and 
satisfy itself that the nature and volume of any non-audit 
services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity 
of the Company’s external auditors. During the financial 
year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the 
Company’s external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, is set 
out below:

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable ($’000)
Audit Services 140
Non-Audit Services 20
Total 160

In line with the requirements under Rule 1207(6) of the 
Listing Rules, the ARC has reviewed the non-audit services 
provided by the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, for 
the financial year under review, and is of the opinion that the 
provision of such services did not affect the independence 
or objectivity of the external auditors.

In respect of the financial year under review, the external 
auditors have confirmed that they are in compliance 
with the independence requirements set out in the Code 
of Professional Conduct and Ethics Applicable to Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities contained in the Fourth 
Schedule of the Accountants (Prescribed Standards and 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics) Order 2023 and 
have affirmed their independence in this respect.

The ARC had recommended the reappointment of Deloitte 
& Touche LLP as external auditors of the Company at the 
forthcoming AGM. The external auditors appointed for the 
Company’s subsidiaries for the current financial reporting 
period are set out in the notes to the financial statements 
found in this Annual Report.
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In proposing to shareholders the re-appointment of Deloitte 
& Touche LLP as the external auditors to the Company, 
and in line with the requirements under Rule 712 of the 
Listing Rules, and after taking into consideration the Audit 
Quality Indicators Disclosure Framework published by ACRA 
in respect of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Board and the 
ARC considered and are satisfied with the adequacy of 
the resources and experience of the auditing firm and the 
audit engagement partner assigned to the audit, the firm’s 
other audit engagements, the size and complexity of our 
Group being audited, and the number and experience of 
supervisory and professional staff assigned to the particular 
audit. Deloitte & Touche LLP has confirmed that it is registered 
with ACRA. The Company is also in compliance with Rule 
715 of the Listing Rules in relation to the appointment of the 
auditors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Whistle-blowing Policy

To achieve a high standard of corporate governance for 
the operations of the Group, the Group has implemented a 
whistle-blowing policy. This policy will provide arrangements 
by which staff can raise concerns on financial improprieties 
and other reporting matters.

The whistle-blowing policy enables staff of the Group and 
any other persons, in confidence, to raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and 
questionable accounting practices or other matters such as 
criminal offences, unlawful acts, fraud, corruption, bribery 
and blackmail, failure to comply with legal or regulatory 
obligations, unsafe work practices or substantial wasting 
of Company resources, and concealment of any of 
the foregoing. The whistle-blowing policy is intended to 
conform to the guidance set out in the Code and aims to: 
(i) support the Group’s values and help detect and address 
unacceptable conduct; (ii) provide an avenue for Directors, 
employees and contractors of the Group and their staff to 
raise concerns without fear of suffering retribution and offer 
reassurance that staff of the Group and any other persons 
making such reports will be treated fairly and protected from 
reprisals for whistle-blowing in good faith within the limits of 
the law; and (iii) provide a transparent and confidential 
process for dealing with concerns.
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The ARC exercises the oversight functions over the 
administration of the whistle-blowing policy. All reports 
including unsigned reports, reports weak in details and 
verbal reports will be considered. Such reports will be 
directed to the CEO or the Chairman of the ARC and the 
ARC will be informed immediately of any whistle-blowing 
reports received. To ensure independent investigation into 
such matters and for appropriate follow-up action, all whistle-
blowing reports are reviewed by the ARC. In the event that 
the whistle-blowing report is about a Director, that Director 
shall not be involved in the review and any decisions with 
respect to that whistle-blowing report. Periodic reports will be 
submitted by the ARC to the Board stating the number and 
the complaints received, the results of the investigations, 
the follow-up actions taken, and the unresolved complaints 
(if any).

All employees who make a disclosure or raise a concern in 
accordance with such policy will be protected from reprisal 
if such employee (a) discloses the information in good faith; 
(b) has reasonable grounds to believe such disclosure or 
concern is substantially true; (c) does not act maliciously; 
and (d) does not seek any personal or financial gain. The 
identity of the whistle-blower will also be kept confidential. 
While employees are strongly encouraged to disclose their 
identity when lodging complaints, efforts will be made to 
ensure confidentiality as far as reasonably practicable. 
Furthermore, anonymous complaints will not be disregarded 
and will be considered.

The ARC has independent oversight and monitoring of the 
whistle-blowing policy and is committed to ensuring that the 
whistle-blower’s identity is kept confidential and protection 
of the whistle-blower against detrimental or unfair treatment.

The ARC has reviewed and has ensured that arrangements 
are in place for such concerns to be raised and 
independently investigated, and for appropriate follow-up 
action to be taken. Details of the whistle-blowing policy have 
also been made available to the Directors, employees and 
contractors of the Group and their staff.

There were no whistle-blowing reports received by the ARC 
in the financial year under review.
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10.2 The AC comprises at least 
three directors, all of whom are 
non-executive and the majority 
of whom, including the AC 
Chairman, are independent. At 
least two members, including 
the AC Chairman, have recent 
and relevant accounting or 
related financial management 
expertise or experience.

The ARC comprises 3 Directors, all non-executive and all 
of whom are independent: Mr Giang Sovann – Chairman; 
Mr Chan Yu Meng – Member; and Mr Tan Ka Huat – Member.

The members of the ARC are appropriately qualified to 
discharge their responsibilities, with Mr Giang Sovann trained 
in accountancy and financial management, Mr Chan Yu 
Meng being an in-house counsel and former partner at a 
Singapore law firm, and Mr Tan Ka Huat having a wealth 
of knowledge and expertise in the semiconductor industry.

10.3 The AC does not comprise 
former partners or directors 
of the company’s existing 
auditing firm or auditing 
corporation: (a) within a period 
of two years commencing on 
the date of their ceasing to 
be a partner of the auditing 
firm or director of the auditing 
corporation; and in any 
case, (b) for as long as they 
have any financial interest in 
the auditing firm or auditing 
corporation.

The ARC’s terms of reference provide that the members of 
the ARC shall not comprise former partners or directors of 
the Company’s existing auditing firm or auditing corporation: 
(a) within a period of 2 years commencing on the date of 
their ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm or director 
of the auditing corporation; and in any case, (b) for as long 
as they have any financial interest in the auditing firm or 
auditing corporation. None of the ARC members fall into any 
of the above categories.

10.4 The primary reporting line of 
the internal audit function is to 
the AC, which also decides on 
the appointment, termination 
and remuneration of the head 
of the internal audit function. 
The internal audit function 
has unfettered access to all 
the company’s documents, 
records, properties and 
personnel, including the AC, 
and has appropriate standing 
within the company.

The Company has outsourced the internal audit function 
to Baker Tilly Consultancy (Singapore) Pte Ltd. The internal 
auditors report to the Chairman of the ARC and the scope 
of work will be agreed with the ARC on an annual basis. 
The internal auditors have access to all the Company’s 
documents, records, properties and personnel, including 
access to the ARC. The ARC approves the hiring, removal, 
evaluation and compensation of the internal auditors.

In line with the requirements under Rule 1207(10C) of the 
Listing Rules, following the review of the internal audit plan 
and the internal auditors’ resources to conduct the internal 
audit plan, the internal auditors’ objectivity in the assessment 
of issues and taking into account that the internal auditors 
have access to all the Company’s documents, records, 
properties and personnel, including access to the ARC and 
having the co-operation of management, the ARC is satisfied 
with the independence of the internal auditors, and is of the 
view that the internal audit function is independent, effective, 
adequately resourced and has the appropriate standing 
within the Group.

In considering the hiring, removal, evaluation and 
compensation of the internal auditors, the ARC has 
considered and is satisfied with the adequacy of the 
qualifications and experience of the internal auditors.
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The internal audit performed by Baker Tilly Consultancy 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd is guided by the International Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

10.5 The AC meets with the external 
auditors, and with the internal 
auditors, in each case without 
the presence of Management, 
at least annually.

The ARC meets, at least once annually, with the Group’s 
external and internal auditors, in each case without the 
presence of management, in order to have free and 
unfiltered access to information that it may require, to 
discuss the results of their examinations and the evaluation 
of the Group’s system of risk management and internal 
controls, and to discuss any problems and concerns which 
they may have.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT: SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Principle

11. The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting 
the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment 
of its performance, position and prospects.

Provision Disclosure

11.1 The company provides 
shareholders with the 
opportunity to participate 
effectively in and vote 
at general meetings of 
shareholders and informs them 
of the rules governing general 
meetings of shareholders.

The Board is accountable to shareholders and ensures that 
all material information is fully disclosed in a timely manner 
to shareholders in compliance with statutory and regulatory 
requirements. The Board provides shareholders with periodic 
financial reports within the legally-prescribed periods and 
under the Listing Rules. In presenting financial statements to 
shareholders, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a 
balanced and clear assessment of the Group’s performance, 
position, prospects and industry conditions. The responsibility 
to provide a balanced and understandable assessment 
extends to interim and other price-sensitive public reports 
and reports to regulators (if required).

Financial and other price-sensitive public information are 
primarily disseminated to shareholders on a timely basis 
through announcements via SGXNET and may also be 
disseminated through press releases, the Company’s 
website, media and analyst briefings. The Company’s annual 
report is accessible on the SGXNET and on the Company’s 
website.

In order to provide ample notice to shareholders, the notice 
of general meeting is despatched to all shareholders before 
the scheduled date of the general meeting. The notice of 
general meeting is also advertised in the newspaper and 
made available via SGXNET and on the Company’s website. 
The notice period for all general meetings complies with the 
requirements under the Companies Act and the Listing Rules.
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The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. 
The Board welcomes questions and comments relating to 
the Group’s business and performance from shareholders 
at AGMs. Shareholders are given an opportunity to air their 
views and direct questions to the Board and management 
on matters affecting the Group. The Chairman facilitates 
constructive dialogue between shareholders and the 
Board, management, external auditors and other relevant 
professionals and from time to time, directs other Directors 
to answer queries on matters related to their roles.

Shareholders will be informed of the rules, including voting 
procedures that govern general meetings of shareholders. 
The Constitution allows a shareholder to appoint a proxy to 
attend and vote in his place at general meetings. Nominee 
companies and relevant intermediaries, as defined in 
Section 181 of the Companies Act, may appoint more than 
2 proxies to attend, speak and vote at general meetings.

According to the Constitution, all resolutions at general 
meetings shall be voted by poll. With poll voting, shareholders 
present in person or represented by proxy at general 
meetings will be entitled to vote on a ‘one-share, one-vote’ 
basis. The detailed procedures for poll voting will be 
explained at the general meetings. Detailed results showing 
the number of votes cast for and against each resolution 
and the respective percentages are announced via SGXNET 
and made available on the Company’s website after the 
conclusion of the general meetings. The Company relies 
on the advice of the independent scrutineers to determine 
the need for electronic voting, taking into consideration 
the logistics involved, costs, and number of shareholders, 
amongst other factors.

11.2 The company tables separate 
resolut ions at general 
meetings of shareholders on 
each substantially separate 
issue unless the issues are 
interdependent and linked 
so as to form one significant 
proposal. Where the resolutions 
are “bundled”, the company 
explains the reasons and 
material implications in the 
notice of meeting.

The Company practises having separate resolutions at 
general meetings for each substantially separate issue. 
“Bundling” of resolutions will be done only where resolutions 
are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant 
proposal.

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Rules, additional 
information on the Directors seeking election/re-election has 
been set out in the section titled “Additional Information on 
Directors Seeking Election/Re-Election” which is appended to 
the Notice of AGM. Please also refer to the section entitled 
“Board of Directors” of the annual report above and the 
explanatory notes to the Notice of AGM, which set out 
detailed information about these Directors, including the 
board and committee positions they are expected to hold 
upon election and their current directorships in other listed 
companies and other principal commitments held.
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11.3 All directors attend general 
meetings of shareholders, 
and the external auditors 
are also present to address 
shareholders’ queries about 
the conduct of audit and the 
preparation and content of 
the auditors’ report. Directors’ 
attendance at such meetings 
held during the financial year 
is disclosed in the company’s 
annual report.

The Company requires all Directors (including the respective 
chairman of each of the Board committees) to be present 
at all general meetings of shareholders to address 
shareholders’ queries at these meetings, except where 
there are exigencies. The external auditors are also required 
to be present to address shareholders’ queries about the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of 
the independent auditor’s report.

Details of Directors’ attendance at all general meetings of 
shareholders held for the financial year under review are 
summarised in the table below:

Meetings of 
Shareholders

Extraordinary 
General Meetings

Annual General 
Meetings

Total held in 
FY2025 0 1
Lim Eng Hong 0 1
Lim Tai Meng Alvin 0 1
Giang Sovann7 0 1
Chan Yu Meng 0 1
Tan Ka Huat 0 1

11.4 The company’s Constitution (or 
other constitutive documents) 
allow for absentia voting 
at general meetings of 
shareholders.

The Company’s Constitution provides that the Board may, 
in its sole discretion approve and implement, and subject 
to such security measures as may be deemed necessary or 
expedient, such voting methods to allow shareholders who 
are unable to vote in person at any general meeting the 
option to vote in absentia, including but not limited to voting 
by mail, electronic mail or facsimile.

Nevertheless, voting in absentia and by mail, electronic mail 
or facsimile is not presently available, which constitutes a 
variation from Provision 11.4 of the Code. The Board is looking 
into resolving the issues on security and integrity satisfactorily 
before implementing such absentia-voting methods. The 
Company is of the view that the intent of Principle 11 was 
met, as the existing arrangement whereby shareholders have 
the opportunity to vote by proxy is adequate in enabling 
shareholders to exercise their rights and have the opportunity 
to vote. Moreover, to allow voting in absentia by mail, 
facsimile or email would require careful consideration of 
various factors, including the integrity of information and 
authentication of the identity of shareholders.

7	 Mr Giang Sovann was appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the AGM held on 29 October 2024. Mr Michael 
Grenville Gray retired as Lead Independent Director of the Company at the conclusion of the AGM held on 29 October 2024
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11.5 The company publishes 
minutes of general meetings of 
shareholders on its corporate 
website as soon as practicable. 
The minutes record substantial 
and relevant comments or 
queries from shareholders 
relating to the agenda of 
the general meeting, and 
responses from the Board and 
Management.

The Company will publish minutes of general meetings within 
one month after the general meeting on SGXNET and its 
corporate website.

The minutes will record substantial and relevant comments 
or queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of 
the general meeting, and responses from the Board or 
management.

11.6 The company has a dividend 
policy and communicates it to 
shareholders.

Avi-Tech Electronics Limited (now known as Avi-Tech 
Electronics Pte. Ltd.) had announced to shareholders on 
8 February 2017 the current policy on payment of dividends, 
which will see the Company distributing in respect of any one 
financial year, a total annual dividend amount of not less 
than 30% of the Company’s consolidated net profits after tax 
and non-controlling interest and excluding non-recurring, 
one-off and exceptional items for that financial year, on 
condition of a regular operating environment and taking into 
account the Company’s earnings, financial position, capital 
expenditure requirements, cash flow, future expansion, 
investment plans, and other factors which the Board may 
deem appropriate.

Dividends declared are subject to shareholders’ approval 
(where applicable), applicable laws and the Constitution.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and 
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to 
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the dividend policy at 
any time, and the dividend policy shall in no way constitute 
a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of 
its future dividends and/or in no way obligates the Company 
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The dividend policy is not indicative in any way of, and 
should not be construed in any manner as, a forecast 
statement or projection made by the Company or the 
Board on the future financial results and performance of the 
Company. In particular, no inference should or can be made 
from any of the foregoing statements as to the actual future 
profitability of the Company or the ability of the Company to 
pay dividends in any of the periods discussed.

In the past where dividends are not paid, the reasons why 
dividends were not paid are communicated to shareholders 
in the relevant annual report and in results announcements.
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ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle

12. The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation 
of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to 
communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Provision Disclosure

12.1 The company provides 
avenues for communication 
between the Board and all 
shareholders, and discloses 
in its annual report the steps 
taken to solicit and understand 
the views of shareholders.

All shareholders are treated fairly and equitably to facilitate 
the exercise of their ownership rights. The Board is aware of 
its obligations to shareholders in providing information on 
changes in the Company or its business which would be 
likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s 
shares. In line with the continuing disclosure obligations of the 
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Companies 
Act, the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be 
equally and sufficiently informed in a comprehensive manner 
and on a timely basis of all material developments that 
impact the Group, and in particular, changes in the Group 
or its business which would be likely to materially affect the 
price or value of the Company’s shares.

All announcements including the periodic financial 
results announcements as required under the Listing 
Rules, distribution of notices, press releases, presentations 
and announcements on major developments, as well 
as the Company’s annual report, are communicated to 
shareholders through public announcements via SGXNET and 
the Company’s website, news releases (where appropriate) 
and circulars that are sent to all shareholders, and notices of 
general meeting which are advertised. The Board approves 
the results announcements after review and authorises their 
release to the shareholders via SGXNET.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure of 
material information. Material information is excluded from 
briefings with investors or analysts, unless it has been publicly 
released via SGXNET before, or concurrently with, such 
meetings. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a 
selected group, the Company will make the same disclosure 
publicly to all others as soon as practicable.
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The Company has also devised investor relations policies 
to provide regular, effective and fair communication and 
convey pertinent information to shareholders. This is achieved 
by providing shareholders, through the Company’s website, 
avenues to request for information via subscribing for 
email updates and providing shareholders with an investor 
relations contact, including email address and telephone/
fax numbers, for shareholders to contact the Company. 
The investor relations contact person can be reached at 
ir@avi-tech.com.sg, by telephone at +65 6482 6168, or by 
fax at +65 6482 6123.

12.2 The company has in place 
an investor relations policy 
which allows for an ongoing 
exchange of views so as 
to actively engage and 
promote regular, effective 
and fair communication with 
shareholders.

The Company does not currently have a written investor 
relations policy, which constitutes a variation from Provision 
12.2 of the Code. The Company is of the view that the intent 
of Principle 12 is met, as there is a section on “Investor 
Relations” on the Company’s website. From this section, the 
Company’s latest annual reports, financial results, corporate 
announcements and stock information can be accessed. 
Shareholders and investors may also communicate with the 
Company and, as the case may be, submit any request 
for information, notices of interests or questions, via the 
Company’s investor relations email address at ir@avi-tech.
com.sg, through which shareholders may contact the 
Company with questions and through which the Company 
may respond to such questions. Moreover, the Board 
endeavours to establish and maintain regular dialogue 
with shareholders (including institutional and retail investors), 
to solicit and understand their views or gather inputs, and 
address shareholders’ concerns. When circumstances permit 
and where appropriate, the Company undertakes regular 
analyst briefings to provide market updates on the Group’s 
business and plans.

12.3 The company’s investor 
relations policy sets out the 
mechanism through which 
shareholders may contact the 
company with questions and 
through which the company 
may respond to such 
questions.

Please refer to our disclosure in respect of Provisions 12.1 
and 12.2 above.
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MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS: ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Principle

13. The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and 
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best 
interests of the company are served.

Provision Disclosure

13.1 T h e  c o m p a n y  h a s 
arrangements in place to 
identify and engage with its 
material stakeholder groups 
and to manage its relationships 
with such groups.

Stakeholder engagement forms an integral part of the 
Company’s sustainability approach. The Company’s 
stakeholders have an interest in the Company’s business 
and influences the Company’s operations, products and 
services, business approach and strategies. The Company’s 
stakeholders have been identified as its customers, 
business partners and suppliers, shareholders, employees, 
government/regulatory agencies and the community.

The Company proactively engages with its stakeholders on 
a regular, continuing basis through various channels and 
means to gain insights to their expectations and concerns 
and use these learnings to make informed management 
decisions in shaping the Company’s business policies and 
strategies, so as to create sustainable business growth and 
value for all stakeholders.

13.2 The company discloses in 
its annual report its strategy 
and key areas of focus in 
relation to the management 
of stakeholder relationships 
during the reporting period.

How the Company engages with its diverse stakeholders, 
manages their expectations and concerns, and how the 
Company responds to them are detailed in the Company’s 
sustainability report. The Company has published its latest 
annual sustainability report (the “Sustainability Report”) 
on the Company’s website as well as on SGXNET within 
the timelines set out in Rule 711A and Practice Note 7.6, 
paragraph 6.1 of the Listing Rules.

As a brief summary, in defining the Company’s sustainability 
reporting content, the Company makes reference to the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards by considering 
the Group’s activities, impact and substantive expectations 
and interests of its stakeholders. The Sustainability Report 
is prepared with reference to the primary components 
set out in Rule 711B of the Listing Rules on a “comply 
or explain” basis, in accordance with Practice Note 7.6 
of the Listing Rules. Corresponding to GRI’s emphasis on 
materiality, the Sustainability Report will highlight, inter alia, 
the key economic, environmental, social and governance 
related initiatives carried out throughout the financial year 
under review. Further details on the Company’s sustainability 
practices will be contained in the Sustainability Report.

A copy of the Sustainability Report is available for download 
at www.avi-tech.com.sg and feedback from all stakeholders 
are welcomed. All questions, comments, suggestions or 
feedback can be sent to the Company at ir@avi-tech.com.sg.
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13.3 The company maintains a 
current corporate website to 
communicate and engage 
with stakeholders.

Please refer to our disclosure in respect of Provisions 12.1 
and 13.2 above.

GENERAL

14. Securities Transactions In line with the requirements under Rule 1207(19) of the 
Listing Rules, the Group has issued policies on share dealings 
by Directors and key officers of the Company, setting out 
the implications of insider trading and recommendations 
of best practices. Directors and all Executive Officers are 
advised not to deal in the Company’s shares on short-term 
considerations or when they are in possession of material 
unpublished price-sensitive information. The Company also 
prohibits its officers from dealing in the Company’s shares, 
during the periods commencing one month before the 
announcement of the Group’s half-year and full-year results 
and, ending on the date of the announcement of such 
results, or when they are in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information on the Group.

15. Interested Person Transactions The Company has established procedures to ensure that 
all transactions with interested persons are reported in a 
timely manner to the ARC. According to the ARC’s terms 
of reference, the ARC shall, inter alia, review all interested 
person transactions and related party transactions to ensure 
that they are on normal commercial terms, and that they 
do not prejudice the interests of the Company or its minority 
shareholders, and determine methods or procedures for 
checking that the transaction prices are adequate for 
transactions to be carried out on normal commercial terms 
and that they will not prejudice the Company or its minority 
shareholders.

The Board confirms that there is no material interested person 
transaction entered into during the financial year under 
review which fall under Rule 907 of the Listing Rules. The 
Company has no shareholder mandate pursuant to Rule 920 
of the Listing Rules.

16. Material Contracts There are no material contracts (including loans) of the 
Group involving the interests of the CEO, any Director or 
controlling shareholder which are either still subsisting at 
the end of the financial year under review or if not then 
subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial 
year, that is required to be disclosed under Rule 1207(8) of 
the Listing Rules.

17. Corporate Social 
Responsibility

The Group remains committed to enhancing the well-being 
of the communities in which it operates and promoting 
environmental sustainability. Although the Group does not 
maintain a formalised corporate social responsibility policy, 
it endeavours to make a positive impact as a responsible 
corporate citizen.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

72

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT



In line with its commitment to community development, 
the Group has supported various charitable initiatives. 
Notably, the Group has made contributions to Thye Hua 
Kwan Hospital, which care is primarily focused on providing 
affordable rehabilitative and sub-acute care for geriatric 
patients.

Over the years, the Group has also participated in 
humanitarian relief efforts by raising funds for disaster-
stricken communities, including support for those affected 
by Typhoon Haiyan in the Philippines.

18. Status Report on use of IPO 
Proceeds

The Group successfully raised approximately $29.0 million 
from its initial public offering (“IPO”) on 25 July 2007. As 
at the end of the financial year under review, the total net 
proceeds of approximately $26.7 million (after deducting 
the IPO expenses of approximately $2.3 million, as disclosed 
on page 33 of Avi-Tech Electronics Limited’s (now known as 
Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. Ltd.) prospectus dated 11 July 2007) 
from the IPO were used for the following purposes:

$ million
Expansion of our customer base and widen our 
portfolio of services 6.0
Potential mergers and acquisitions 3.3
Expansion of our overseas operations 3.0
Working capital 9.7
Total 22.0

The IPO proceeds used for working capital purposes have 
been applied to the following uses:

•	 Purchase of plant and equipment;
•	 Purchase and replenishment of inventories;
•	 Payments to suppliers and service providers;
•	 Loan repayments; and
•	 Payments for other day-to-day operations.

Management has confirmed that the above use of proceeds 
was in line with the Company’s planned utilisation of funds.
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The directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2025.

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 82 to 119 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at
30 June 2025, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, 
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due.

1	 DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Lim Eng Hong
Giang Sovann            (Appointed on 29 October 2024)
Lim Tai Meng Alvin
Chan Yu Meng
Tan Ka Huat

2	 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF 
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

3	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the 
share capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register 
of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Companies Act 1967 
except as follows:

Shareholdings registered 
in the names of directors

Shareholdings in which directors 
are deemed to have an interest

Names of directors 
and company in 
which interests 
are held

At beginning 
of the year

At end 
of the year

At 21 July 
2025

At beginning 
of the year

At end 
of the year

At 21 July 
2025

The Company 
(Ordinary shares)
Lim Eng Hong 49,477,875 49,477,875 49,477,875 13,135,000 13,135,000 13,135,000
Lim Tai Meng Alvin 120,000 120,000 120,000 – – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act 1967, Mr Lim Eng Hong is deemed to have an interest in 
all the ordinary shares of the subsidiaries of the Company.
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4	 SHARE OPTIONS

(a)	 Options to take up unissued shares

During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company or any 
corporation in the Group was granted.

(b)	 Options exercised

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the 
Group issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

(c)	 Unissued shares under options

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any 
corporation in the Group under options.

(d)	 Avi-Tech Restricted Share Plan 2021 (“RSP 2021”)

With respect to the matters set out in Rule 852 of the Listing Rules and Rule 14 of the rules of 
the RSP 2021, the Company wishes to disclose that: (i) the Board will nominate the members 
of the committee which will administer the RSP 2021; and (ii) the Company has not granted 
any awards under the RSP 2021, and no shares have been issued or transferred in connection 
with the RSP 2021.

5	 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

	 The Audit and Risk Committee (the “Committee”), consisting of all non-executive and independent 
directors, is chaired by Mr Michael Grenville Gray (up to 29 October 2024) and Mr Giang Sovann 
(from 29 October 2024, as the replacement for Mr Michael Grenville Gray) and includes Mr Chan Yu 
Meng and Mr Tan Ka Huat. The Committee has met 4 times and has reviewed the following, where 
relevant, with the executive directors and external and internal auditors of the Company:

(a)	 the external auditor’s audit plan;

(b)	 the audit plan and results of the internal auditor’s examination and evaluation of the Group’s 
systems of internal accounting controls;

(c)	 the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(d)	 the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company before their submission to the directors 
of the Company and external auditor’s report on those financial statements;

(e)	 the quarterly, half-yearly and annual as well as the related press releases on the results and 
financial position of the Group;

(f)	 the interested person transactions as specified under Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual;

(g)	 the cooperation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors;

(h)	 the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group; and

(i)	 the independence of the external auditors.
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5	 AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Committee has full access to and has the cooperation of the management and has been given 
the resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite 
any director and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have 
unrestricted access to the Committee.

The Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for 
re-appointment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”) of the Company.

6	 AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

................................................
Lim Eng Hong

................................................
Giang Sovann

26 September 2025
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Avi-Tech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the 
statement of financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, as 
set out on pages 82 to 119.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2025 and of the consolidated financial 
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in 
equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories
[Refer to Note 11 to the financial statements]

Background:

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s inventories of $2,847,000 accounted for approximately 6.0% of total current 
assets of the Group. Allowance for inventory obsolescence as at 30 June 2025 amounted to $606,000.

Management’s assessment of allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories involves significant 
estimation with consideration in relation to possible future use of the aged inventory items as well as the 
demand for on-going production and the ability to sell the products at prices above costs.
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Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (Continued)

Our response:

We have performed procedures to evaluate the design of the relevant controls for assessment of allowance 
for slow-moving and obsolete inventories and determine whether those relevant controls have been 
implemented.

We have obtained an understanding of the profile of inventories, management’s controls over inventory 
levels, purchasing policy and expected usage for ongoing production.

We have evaluated management’s assumptions used in the assessment of inventory allowance, checked 
the calculations supporting the allowance and tested the ageing reports used as a basis to assess the 
allowance.

We have assessed the reasonableness of management’s estimation of future utilisation and saleability of 
the inventories in the current economic conditions, taking into consideration the nature of the inventories 
and the industry in which the entity operates, in determining the recoverability of the inventory balances.

We made enquiries with warehouse personnel during the physical inventory count regarding the presence 
of damaged inventories. On a sample basis, we tested the valuation of inventories by comparison with 
latest purchase and selling prices.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion 
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of 
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by 
those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tan Puay Boon.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

26 September 2025
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Group Company
Note 2025 2024 2025 2024

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 6 4,031 3,948 340 517
Fixed deposits 7 33,420 33,030 13,510 14,430
Trade receivables 9 5,700 3,671 – –
Other receivables and 

prepayments 10 695 821 109 206
Inventories 11 2,847 3,680 – –
Other financial assets at amortised 

cost 12 500 – – –
Total current assets 47,193 45,150 13,959 15,153

Non-current assets
Other financial assets at amortised 

cost 12 – 500 – –
Subsidiaries 13 – – 51,464 51,464
Associate 14 – – – –
Property, plant and equipment 15 10,479 11,430 – –
Right-of-use asset 16 306 538 – –
Total non-current assets 10,785 12,468 51,464 51,464

Total assets 57,978 57,618 65,423 66,617

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Trade payables 17 3,213 1,787 92 100
Other payables 18 1,531 1,534 1,890 1,875
Lease liabilities 19 330 308 – –
Income tax payable 406 518 48 60
Total current liabilities 5,480 4,147 2,030 2,035

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 18 96 184 – –
Lease liabilities 19 174 487 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 20 1,333 1,279 16 –
Total non-current liabilities 1,603 1,950 16 –

Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 30,759 30,759 30,759 30,759
Reserves 20,136 20,762 32,618 33,823
Total equity 50,895 51,521 63,377 64,582

Total liabilities and equity 57,978 57,618 65,423 66,617

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Group
Note 2025 2024

$’000 $’000
Revenue 23 21,592 25,075

Cost of sales (17,600) (18,549)

Gross profit 3,992 6,526

Other operating income 24 1,669 2,060

Distribution costs (91) (138)

Administrative expenses (4,640) (5,046)

Finance costs 25 (16) (18)

Profit before income tax 914 3,384

Income tax expense 26 (251) (570)

Profit for the year 27 663 2,814

Other comprehensive loss:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation (6) –

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (6) –

Total comprehensive income for the year 657 2,814

Earnings per share 28

Basic (cents) 0.39 1.65

Diluted (cents) 0.39 1.65

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Share 
capital

Currency 
translation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Total 
reserves Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group

Balance at 1 July 2023 30,759 (3) 20,944 20,941 51,700

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – 2,814 2,814 2,814

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity
Dividends (Note 29) – – (2,993) (2,993) (2,993)

Balance at 30 June 2024 30,759 (3) 20,765 20,762 51,521

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – 663 663 663
Other comprehensive loss for the year – (6) – (6) (6)
Total – (6) 663 657 657

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity
Dividends (Note 29) – – (1,283) (1,283) (1,283)

Balance at 30 June 2025 30,759 (9) 20,145 20,136 50,895
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Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
reserves Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
(Note 22)

Company

Balance at 1 July 2023 30,759 20,705 15,832 36,537 67,296

Profit for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year – – 279 279 279

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity
Dividends (Note 29) – – (2,993) (2,993) (2,993)

Balance at 30 June 2024 30,759 20,705 13,118 33,823 64,582

Profit for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year – – 78 78 78

Transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity
Dividends (Note 29) – – (1,283) (1,283) (1,283)

Balance at 30 June 2025 30,759 20,705 11,913 32,618 63,377

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit before income tax 914 3,384
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,050 1,170
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 260 248
Impairment loss on associate – 171
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (145)
Amortisation of deferred grant (83) –
Allowance for inventories obsolescence 2 115
Interest expense 16 18
Interest income (1,040) (1,198)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,119 3,763

Trade receivables (2,029) 3,772
Other receivables and prepayments (42) 212
Inventories 831 1,358
Trade payables 1,426 (1,509)
Other payables (8) (61)

Cash generated from operations 1,297 7,535

Income tax paid (309) (568)
Interest paid (16) (18)
Interest received 1,208 1,291

Net cash from operating activities 2,180 8,240

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (Note A) (100) (243)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 –
Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets – (500)
Placement of fixed deposits (240) (4,030)

Net cash used in investing activities (339) (4,773)

Financing activities
Dividends paid (1,283) (2,993)
Repayment of lease liabilities (319) (272)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,602) (3,265)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 239 202
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 8,048 7,846
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held (6) –
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 8) 8,281 8,048

Note A

During the preceding year ended 30 June 2024, the Group acquired property, plant, and equipment with an aggregate cost of $634,000, 
of which $246,000 was settled through a hire purchase arrangement and $145,000 through a trade-in.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1	 GENERAL

The Company (Registration No. 202002889W) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of 
business and registered office at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, Singapore 554859. The Company 
is listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial 
statements are expressed in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company 
and presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement 
of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 were authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 September 2025.

1.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in 
the material accounting policy information, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 1967 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”).

1.2	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

On 1 July 2024, the Group and the Company have applied all the new and revised SFRS(I) Accounting 
Standards that are mandatorily effective and are relevant to its operations. Their adoption has not 
had any material effect on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

1.3	 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE – Management anticipates that the adoption of the new and 
revised SFRS(I) pronouncements that were issued but not effective at the date of authorisation of 
these financial statements will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group 
and the Company in the period of their initial adoption except as below.

SFRS(I) 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

SFRS(I) 18 will replace SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements, carrying forward many of the 
requirements in SFRS(I) 1-1 unchanged and complementing them with new requirements. The new 
standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with earlier 
application permitted.

SFRS(I) 18 introduces the following key new requirements:

•	 Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of 
profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income 
tax categories, and present new defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;

•	 Disclosures on management-defined performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to the 
financial statements; and

•	 Enhanced guidance on how to improve aggregation and disaggregation of information in 
the financial statements.

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to 
the structure of the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and the additional disclosures 
required for MPMs as well as how information is grouped in the financial statements.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

87

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT – Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements 
is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such 
as net realisable value in SFRS(I) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets.

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs 
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

SUBSIDIARIES – Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group 
has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. Details of the Group’s subsidiaries 
are disclosed in Note 13.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to align their accounting 
policies with the those of the Group. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are eliminated on 
consolidation. Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control 
are accounted for as equity transactions.

Company’s separate financial statements

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

ASSOCIATES – An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 
but is not control or joint control over those policies. Details of the Group’s associate are disclosed 
in Note 14.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Equity method of accounting

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. Investment in each associate is initially recognised 
at cost, and are subsequently accounted for by including the Group’s share of its profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income or loss in the carrying amount of the investment until the date on which 
significant influence or joint control ceases. Dividends received reduce the carrying amount of the 
investment. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that 
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the 
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group. When necessary, adjustments 
are made to align the associate’s accounting policies with the those of the Group.

The requirements of SFRS(I) 1-36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any 
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire 
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 
SFRS(I) 1-36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance 
with SFRS(I) 1-36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of 
financial position when the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade 
date basis.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value (except for trade receivables that do not have a 
significant financing component which are measured at transaction price), net of transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than those at fair 
value through profit or loss).

Classification and measurement of financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’) or fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’) 
based on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The Group’s financial assets comprising cash and bank balances, fixed deposits, trade receivables, 
other receivables and other financial assets are measured subsequently at amortised cost as these 
financial assets are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL’) on trade receivables and 
other receivables, and other debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount 
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of 
the respective financial asset. The ECL incorporates forward-looking information and is a probability-
weighted estimate of the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. Details about the Group’s credit risk management are disclosed 
in Note 4(b)(i).

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. 
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost include trade and other payables. These are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial liabilities, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INVENTORIES – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (weighted-average method) and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, costs that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred 
in marketing, selling and distribution.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of assets over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Building and leasehold improvements	 –	 60 years
Plant and equipment	 –	 3 to 10 years
Computer software	 –	 3 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated based on the higher of fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use, to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Where an asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increase does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

LEASES

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. A right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognised with respect to all lease arrangements, 
except for short-term leases (those with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value 
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate.

The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is 
determined based on the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

•	 fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; and

•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, measured initially using the index 
or rate at the commencement date.

A right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial lease liability, any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date (less any lease incentives received), any initial direct 
costs and any restoration costs. The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the 
lease terms commencing from the date of the lease, and are tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy similar to that adopted for property, plant and equipment.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest 
on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount 
to reflect the lease payments made. Lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate when there is a change in the lease term or using the initial 
discount rate when there is a change in the lease payments due to changes in an index or rate. A 
corresponding adjustment is made to the related right-of-use asset.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its property and the leases are 
classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

PROVISIONS – Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time 
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

REVENUE RECOGNITION – Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer and excludes amount collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises 
revenue from the following major sources when it transfers control of a product or service to a 
customer. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements 
and records revenue on a gross basis because it typically controls the goods or services before 
transferring them to the customer.

Burn-In Boards and Boards Related Products

The Group is involved in the designing and manufacturing of a wide range of Burn-In boards for 
the various types of Burn-In systems as well as boards for other types of reliability tests such as High 
Temperature Operating Life Test and Highly Accelerated Stress Test.

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customer, 
generally on delivery of the Boards to the customer’s specific location or upon acceptance by the 
customer.

Burn-In and Related Services

The Group provides Static Burn-In, Dynamic Burn-In, Test During Burn-In and High Power Burn-In for 
semiconductor manufacturers. The Group serves the segment of the industry that requires fail-safe or 
high reliability semiconductor devices, including automotive and microprocessor products. Revenue 
is recognised at the point in time upon completion of services.

Engineering Services and Equipment Distribution

The Group provides services ranging from design, development and full turnkey outsourced 
manufacturing and system integration of semiconductor equipment to lab automation systems for 
the life sciences and biotech industries.

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the assembled equipment/system is 
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the equipment/system to the customer’s specific 
location or when the assembled equipment/system is made available to the customer at designated 
area within the Group’s premises for which delivery is arranged by the customer.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost, and is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the debt instruments.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including 
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life 
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS – Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance 
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct 
or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised 
as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or 
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS – Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made 
to state-managed retirement benefit plans are accounted for as payments to defined contribution 
plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT – Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they 
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

INCOME TAX – Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax which is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax

Current tax payable represents the amount expected to be paid to taxation authorities on taxable 
profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods. The amount of current tax payable is the 
best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid that reflects the uncertainty related to income 
taxes.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from (i) initial recognition 
of goodwill; or (ii) initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination, and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and 
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will 
be available to utilise those temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled, or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities.

Offsetting

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset as there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset as there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION – The individual financial statements of each 
group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are 
presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the respective group entities, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of the 
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

EARNINGS PER SHARE – Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s material accounting policies

Management is of the view that no critical judgement was made in the process of applying the 
Group’s material accounting policies that would have a significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements, apart from those involving estimations as below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Allowance for inventories

The Group reviews the carrying value of its inventories so that they are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. In assessing net realisable value, management identifies inventories where 
there has been a significant decline in price or cost, aged inventory items and inventory items that 
may not be realised as a result of certain events, and estimates the recoverable amount of such 
inventory based on values at which such inventory items are expected to be realised at the end of 
the reporting period. Management also reviews the possible future use of the aged inventory items 
as well as the demand for on-going production and the ability to sell the products at prices above 
costs, taking into consideration the general economic conditions and market demand.

The carrying amount of inventories of the Group at the end of the reporting period was $2,847,000 
(2024: $3,680,000), net of allowance amounted to $606,000 (2024: $621,000). Allowance for 
inventories of $2,000 (2024: $115,000) was made during the year.

Calculation of loss allowance for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision matrix is initially 
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust 
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information, where appropriate.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the 
forward-looking estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation between historically 
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The Group’s 
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative 
of customer’s actual default in the future. The Group has observed payments from customers 
continue to be forthcoming and therefore, the Group expects the probability of default to remain low.

The carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group at the end of the reporting period is disclosed 
in Note 9.
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether property, plant and equipment 
have any indication of impairment. If there are indicators of impairment, the recoverable amount of 
property, plant and equipment will be determined based on higher of value in use calculations or 
the fair value less costs of disposal.

A considerable amount of judgement is required in determining the recoverable amount of the 
property, plant and equipment, which among other factors, the recent transaction prices for similar 
assets, the condition, utility, age, wear and tear and/or obsolescence of the property, plant and 
equipment.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of the Group at the end of the reporting 
period is disclosed in Note 15.

4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

(a)	 Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at end of the reporting period:

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 44,243 41,846 13,944 15,139

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,737 2,680 1,982 1,975

(b)	 Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group’s overall financial risk management strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects 
of financial performance of the Group. The board of directors reviews the overall financial risk 
management on specific areas, such as market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess 
cash. These are reviewed quarterly by the board of directors. Risk management is carried out 
by the finance department under the oversight by the board of directors.
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4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis indicated below.

(i)	 Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to 
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties are represented by the carrying 
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk given that its revenue is generated 
mainly from five (2024: five) major customers, which accounted for 42% (2024: 52%) of 
the carrying amount of trade receivables. Management believes that the risk of default 
is mitigated by the good financial standings of these customers.

Before accepting any new customer, management assesses the potential customer’s 
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits granted to customers are 
reviewed periodically. The Group’s exposure to credit risks and the credit limits to 
counterparties are continuously monitored. The Group monitors collections due and 
follows up with debtors as part of the credit management process.

The Group develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise exposures 
according to their degree of risk of default. The Group uses its own trading records to 
rate its major customers and other debtors.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description

Basis for recognising 
expected credit losses 
(“ECL”)

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of 
default and does not have any past-
due amounts.

12-month ECL

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due and 
there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL – not credit-
impaired

In default Amount is >90 days past due and 
there is evidence indicating the asset 
is credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL – credit-
impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the Group has no realistic 
prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off
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4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets 
as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

Note

Internal 
credit  
rating

12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss  
allowance

Net  
carrying 
amount

$’000 $’000 $’000
Group
2025
Trade receivables 9 (i) Lifetime ECL 

(simplified 
approach)

5,661 – 5,661

Other receivables 10 Performing 12-month ECL 631 – 631
Other financial assets 

at amortised cost
12 Performing 12-month ECL 500 – 500

6,792 – 6,792

2024
Trade receivables 9 (i) Lifetime ECL 

(simplified 
approach)

3,617 – 3,617

Other receivables 10 Performing 12-month ECL 751 – 751
Other financial assets 

at amortised cost
12 Performing 12-month ECL 500 – 500

Other financial assets 
at amortised cost

12 In default Lifetime 
ECL – credit-

impaired

500 (500) –

5,368 (500) 4,868

Company
2025
Other receivables 10 Performing 12-month ECL 94 – 94

2024
Other receivables 10 Performing 12-month ECL 192 – 192

(i)	 The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade receivables by using a 
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience on the past 
due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions 
and estimates of future economic conditions, where relevant.

Cash and bank balances and fixed deposits are held with banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international credit rating agencies and therefore the credit risk is limited 
and the amounts are subject to immaterial credit loss.
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4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(ii)	 Interest rate risk management

Details of the interest-earning and interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities 
of the Group and the Company are disclosed in Notes 7 and 19 respectively. The Group 
does not use derivative financial instruments to mitigate this risk.

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group and the Company do not expect 
any material effect on the profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible 
changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the 
reporting period.

(iii)	 Foreign exchange risk management

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to business transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies. Significant foreign currencies include United States dollar and 
Chinese renminbi.

The exposure to the foreign exchange risk is managed as far as possible by natural 
hedges of matching assets and liabilities.

The carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated 
in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currency at the 
reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
United States dollar 5,353 3,503 1,878 1,425
Chinese renminbi 2,068 1,487 – 128

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the relevant 
foreign currencies against the functional currency of each group entity. 5% is the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis below includes only significant 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 
at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

If the relevant foreign currencies strengthen by 5% against the functional currency of 
each group entity, the Group’s profit before income tax will increase (decrease) by:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 174 104
Chinese renminbi 103 68

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

100

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

If the relevant foreign currencies weaken by 5% against the functional currency of each 
group entity, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the Group’s profit before 
income tax.

The Company does not have significant exposure to exchange rate fluctuations.

(iv)	 Liquidity risk management

The Group has sufficient cash resources and maintains adequate lines of credit to 
finance its activities. Management has assessed liquidity risk to be low in view of the 
Group’s strong working capital and cash reserve.

Liquidity and interest risk analyses

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company 
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Effective 
interest rate

On demand 
or within  
1 year

Within 2  
to 5 years Adjustment Total

Group % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2025
Non-interest bearing – 3,737 – – 3,737
Lease liabilities  

(fixed interest rate) 2.10 – 2.78 341 192 (29) 504
Total 4,078 192 (29) 4,241

2024
Non-interest bearing – 2,680 – – 2,680
Lease liabilities  

(fixed interest rate) 2.10 – 2.78 323 516 (44) 795
Total 3,003 516 (44) 3,475

Company
2025
Non-interest bearing 1,982 – – 1,982

2024
Non-interest bearing – 1,975 – – 1,975
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4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-derivative financial assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The 
tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of 
the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where 
the Group and the Company anticipate that the cash flows will occur in a different 
period.

Effective 
interest rate

On demand 
or within 1 

year
Within 2 to 

5 years Adjustment Total
Group % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2025
Non-interest bearing – 10,323 – – 10,323
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 1.34 – 3.50 34,332 – (412) 33,920
Total 44,655 – (412) 44,243

2024
Non-interest bearing – 8,316 – – 8,316
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 3.23 – 4.50 33,631 528 (629) 33,530
Total 41,947 528 (629) 41,846

Company
2025
Non-interest bearing – 434 – – 434
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 1.80 – 2.70 13,662 – (152) 13,510
Total 14,096 – (152) 13,944

2024
Non-interest bearing – 709 – – 709
Fixed interest rate 

instruments 3.50 – 4.05 14,702 – (272) 14,430
Total 15,411 – (272) 15,139

(v)	 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Management considers the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost to approximate their respective fair values due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these financial assets and financial liabilities and the 
interest rates approximating market rates.

Fair value of non-current financial assets at amortised cost is disclosed in Note 12.
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4	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Capital management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (lease liabilities disclosed in Note 19 
after deducting cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, 
reserves and retained earnings).

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

5	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the transactions and arrangements of the Group are with related parties and the effect of 
these on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. Unless 
otherwise stated, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and are 
expected to be settled in cash.

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and key management during the year is as follows:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 1,614 1,730
Post-employment benefits 96 99

1,710 1,829

6	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank 4,030 3,946 340 517
Cash on hand 1 2 – –

4,031 3,948 340 517
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7	 FIXED DEPOSITS

Group

The deposits bear effective interest in the range of 1.34% to 3.50% (2024: 3.23% to 4.05%) per annum 
with maturity period of 1 to 12 months (2024: 1 to 12 months).

Included in the fixed deposits are $4,250,000 (2024: $4,100,000) with maturity period of 3 months 
or less and can be withdrawn before maturity without significant risk of changes in value (Note 8).

Included in the fixed deposits are $29,170,000 (2024: $28,930,000) with maturity period of more than 
3 months.

Company

The deposits bear effective interest in the range of 1.80% to 2.70% (2024: 3.50% to 4.05%) per annum 
with maturity period of 10 to 12 months (2024: 3 to 12 months).

Included in the fixed deposits are $Nil (2024: $2,100,000) with maturity period of 3 months or less and 
can be withdrawn before maturity without significant risk of changes in value.

Included in the fixed deposits are $13,510,000 (2024: $12,330,000) with maturity period of more than 
3 months.

8	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances (Note 6) 4,031 3,948
Fixed deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of 

cash (Note 7) 4,250 4,100
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash 

flows at end of year 8,281 8,048

9	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Outside parties 5,661 3,617
Advances to suppliers 39 54

5,700 3,671

As at 1 July 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers of the Group amounted to 
$7,039,000.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. The average credit period for trade receivables is generally 60 days and 
are therefore classified as current. Trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less loss allowance.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques of loss allowance during the current reporting 
period.
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9	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables from contracts with customers. As 
the Group’s historical loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different 
customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due status is not further 
distinguished between the different customer base.

Trade receivables – days past due
Not past 

due
Within  

30 days
31 to 60 

days
61 to 90 

days
More than 

90 days Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2025
Expected credit loss rate * * * * * *
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default 3,982 934 679 – 66 5,661
Lifetime ECL – – – – – –

2024
Expected credit loss rate * * * * * *
Estimated total gross carrying 

amount at default 2,906 410 139 28 134 3,617
Lifetime ECL – – – – – –

•	 The expected credit loss rate is assessed as negligible.

10	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deposits 271 271 – –
Prepaid expenses 64 70 15 14
Accrued interest 265 433 94 192
Others 95 47 – –

695 821 109 206

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, less loss allowance.

Other receivables are considered to have low risk of default as they are not due for payment at 
the end of the reporting period and there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, as the Group and the Company have not identified any indications of adverse changes 
in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change in 
the counterparty’s ability to meet its repayment obligations. The loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL and is determined to be immaterial.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques during the current reporting period.

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

105

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



11	 INVENTORIES

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Work-in-progress 1,166 706
Raw materials 2,287 3,595

3,453 4,301
Less: Allowance for inventories (606) (621)

2,847 3,680

Movement in allowance for inventories:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 621 538
Charge to profit or loss for the year 2 115
Written off (17) (32)
Balance at end of the year 606 621

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes allowance made for inventories 
obsolescence of $2,000 (2024: $115,000).

12	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Bonds, at amortised cost
Current(1)(2) 500 500
Less: Loss allowance(2) – (500)

500 –
Non-current(1) – 500

500 500

Movement in loss allowance:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year 500 500
Written off (500) –
Balance at end of the year – 500
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12	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

The bonds are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowance. Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss.

(1)	 The bonds are listed and have nominal value amounting to $500,000 with coupon rates ranging from 3.75% to 4.50% per 
annum and maturity dates ranging from 29 October 2025 to 12 November 2025.

The bonds are considered to have low risk of default as they are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period 
and the issuers have strong capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and adverse changes 
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the issuers to 
fulfil their contractual cash flow obligations. The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL and is 
determined to be immaterial.

Fair value of the bonds based on quoted bid prices in an active market (Level 1) is $502,000.

(2)	 The bond had nominal value amounting to $500,000 with coupon rate of 4.25% per annum and had matured on 7 September 
2018. Impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss in previous year due to issuer being placed under debt restructuring. 
The bond is written off as the issuer was wound up.

13	 SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 51,464 51,464

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
incorporation 

and operations

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

power held Principal activity
2025 2024

% %
Avi-Tech Electronics Pte. 

Ltd.(1)
Singapore 100 100 Burn in services, board 

manufacturing, and 
engineering services

AVT Connect Pte. Ltd.(2) Singapore 100 100 Business support activities
Avi-Tech Electronics 

(Suzhou) Limited(2)
People’s 

Republic of 
China

100 100 Business support activities

(1)	 Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(2)	 Not audited for consolidation purpose as management is of the opinion that the results of these subsidiaries for the year are 
not significant.
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14	 ASSOCIATE

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Cost of investment 500 500
Share of loss of associate (161) (161)
Less: Allowance for impairment (339) (339)

– –

In 2024, the Group recognised an impairment loss of $171,000 against the carrying amount of its 
investment in associate, being the difference between the carrying amount of the Group’s investment 
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the associate. The fair value of the associate estimated 
by management was based on the expected recoverable value of the associate.

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of associate

Country of 
incorporation 

and 
operations

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

power held Principal activity
2025 2024

% %

Movel AI Pte Ltd(1) Singapore 9 9
AI-Based Autonomous Navigation 
Software

(1)	 The Group has significant influence over Movel AI Pte Ltd by virtue of its contractual right to appoint one out of three directors 
to the board of that company, based on definition under SFRS(I) 1-28.

Information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below.

2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Unrecognised share of loss of associate for the year (9) (36)
Cumulative share of losses of associate (45) (36)
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15	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Building and 
leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

equipment
Computer 
software Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
Cost:

At 1 July 2023 15,226 28,895 1,668 45,789
Additions – 634 – 634
Disposals – (375) – (375)
Written off – (10) – (10)
At 30 June 2024 15,226 29,144 1,668 46,038
Additions – 100 – 100
Disposals – (114) – (114)
At 30 June 2025 15,226 29,130 1,668 46,024

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 July 2023 6,142 25,555 1,493 33,190
Depreciation for the year 259 772 139 1,170
Disposals – (375) – (375)
Written off – (10) – (10)
At 30 June 2024 6,401 25,942 1,632 33,975
Depreciation for the year 259 784 7 1,050
Disposals – (113) – (113)
At 30 June 2025 6,660 26,613 1,639 34,912

Impairment:
At 1 July 2023, 30 June 2024 and 

2025 – 633 – 633

Carrying amount:
At 30 June 2024 8,825 2,569 36 11,430

At 30 June 2025 8,566 1,884 29 10,479

The Group has certain plant and equipment with carrying amount of $306,000 (2024: $394,000) 
under hire purchase arrangement (Note 19) and are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset.
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16	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

The Group leases land for use of office premises with lease term of 30 years with an extension of the 
lease for a further 30 years at market rent subject to certain conditions.

Lease payments are subject to annual revision by the lessor.

Land
$’000

Group
Cost:

At 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024 1,747
Revision of lease payments 28
At 30 June 2025 1,775

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 July 2023 961
Depreciation for the year 248
At 30 June 2024 1,209
Depreciation for the year 260
At 30 June 2025 1,469

Carrying amount:
At 30 June 2024 538

At 30 June 2025 306

17	 TRADE PAYABLES

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties 2,295 1,230 92 100
Advances received from customers(1) 918 557 – –

3,213 1,787 92 100

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 45 days (2024: 45 days). No interest is payable 
on the overdue trade payables.

(1)	 As at 1 July 2023, advances received from customers of the Group amounted to $300,000. The Group’s revenue recognised 
during the year that was included in the amount at the beginning of the period is $557,000 (2024: $300,000). Additional 
advances have been received from customers during the year for equipment orders.
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18	 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current:
Deposits received 141 163 – –
Accrued expenses 1,009 1,012 87 91
Accrued directors’ fees and accrued 

bonus to directors 267 267 267 267
Deferred income

– government grant 89 84 – –
Others 25 8 3 –
Subsidiary – – 1,533 1,517

1,531 1,534 1,890 1,875

Non-current:
Deferred income

– government grant 96 184 – –

Amount due to subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

19	 LEASE LIABILITIES

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Maturity analysis:
Year 1 341 323
Year 2 103 323
Year 3 56 104
Year 4 33 56
Year 5 – 33

533 839
Less: Unearned interest (29) (44)

504 795

Analysed as:
Current 330 308
Non-current 174 487

504 795

The lease liabilities include current and non-current amounts of $49,000 and $131,000 (2024: $49,000 
and $180,000) respectively under hire purchase arrangement (Note 15).

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to their lease liabilities.
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19	 LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities.

1 July 2024
Financing  
cash flows

Revision 
of lease 

payments 
(Note 16) 30 June 2025

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Lease liabilities 795 (319) 28 504

1 July 2023
Financing 
cash flows

New hire 
purchase 

arrangement 
(Note 15) 30 June 2024

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Lease liabilities 821 (272) 246 795

20	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and (assets) recognised by the Group, and the 
movements thereon, during the current and prior financial years:

Group
Accelerated 

tax 
depreciation

Right-of-use 
asset

Lease 
liabilities Others Net

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
At 1 July 2023 1,293 134 (140) 9 1,296
(Credit) Charge to profit or loss 

for the year (Note 26) (14) (43) 43 (3) (17)
At 30 June 2024 1,279 91 (97) 6 1,279
Charge (Credit) to profit or loss 

for the year (Note 26) 12 (39) 42 39 54
At 30 June 2025 1,291 52 (55) 45 1,333

21	 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
’000 ’000 $’000 $’000

Number of ordinary shares
Issued and paid up:

At the beginning and end of year 171,046 171,046 30,759 30,759

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to 
dividends as and when declared by the Company.
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22	 CAPITAL RESERVE

During the year ended 30 June 2022, Avi-Tech Electronics Limited (“AVTE”) completed a corporate 
restructuring through which the Company acquired all the issued and paid-up ordinary shares of 
AVTE through the issuance of ordinary shares in exchange for AVTE’s ordinary shares.

The capital reserve represents the difference between share capital of the Company which were 
issued in exchange for the ordinary shares of AVTE pursuant to the corporate restructuring of AVTE 
by way of a scheme of arrangement in December 2021, and the carrying amount of total equity of 
AVTE at the date of restructuring.

23	 REVENUE

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods and services at a point in time in the 
following major revenue streams which is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed 
for each reportable segment under SFRS(I) 8 (Note 31).

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Burn-In Boards and Boards Related Products 13,834 12,589
Engineering Services(1) 7,758 12,486

21,592 25,075

(1)	 Includes Burn-In and Related Services and Engineering Services and Equipment Distribution.

24	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Interest income 1,040 1,198
Rental income 516 475
Grant income 83 163
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 145
Others 30 79

1,669 2,060

25	 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Interest on lease liabilities 16 18
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26	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Current tax expense 290 562
Deferred tax (Note 20) (120) –
(Over) Under provision in respect of prior years:

– Current tax (93) 25
– Deferred tax (Note 20) 174 (17)

251 570

The income tax expense varied from the amount of income determined by applying the Singapore 
income tax rate of 17% (2024: 17%) to profit before income tax as a result of the following differences:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Profit before income tax 914 3,384

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 17% (2024: 17%) 155 575
Tax effect of items that are not deductible in determining  

taxable profit 42 10
Effect of tax exemption (17) (17)
Under provision of tax in respect of prior year 81 8
Others (10) (6)

251 570

27	 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

	 Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration) 7,194 8,076
Costs of defined contribution plans  

(included in employee benefits expense) 556 596
Directors’ remuneration 767 845
Directors’ fees 150 150
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,050 1,170
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 260 248
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (145)
Foreign currency exchange loss – net 188 91
Audit fees:

Auditors of the Company 140 140
Non-audit fees:

Auditors of the Company 20 19
Other auditors 12 12

Impairment loss on associate – 171
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  

(including allowance for inventories obsolescence) 10,135 9,870
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28	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is 
based on the following data:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share 663 2,814

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 

basic earnings per share (’000) 171,046 171,046

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 
diluted earnings per share (’000) 171,046 171,046

Earnings per share (cents):
– Basic 0.39 1.65

– Diluted 0.39 1.65

29	 DIVIDENDS

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividends on ordinary shares in respect of the 
financial year ended 30 June 2023:
–	 Final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.0 cent 

per share – 1,710 – 1,710

Dividends on ordinary shares in respect of the 
financial year ended 30 June 2024:
–	 Interim one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.75 

cent per share – 1,283 – 1,283
–	 Final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.75 cent 

per share 1,283 – 1,283 –
1,283 2,993 1,283 2,993

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company proposed a final one-tier tax exempt 
dividend of 0.25 cent per ordinary share totalling $428,000 in respect of the financial year ended
30 June 2025.
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30	 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out part of the office premise to third parties with lease terms ranging from 2 to
3 years with extension options of 1 to 2 year(s). Rental is fixed for the duration of the lease.

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments:

Group
2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Year 1 638 503
Year 2 334 420
Year 3 209 12
Year 4 9 –
Total 1,190 935

31	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

In 2024, the Group was primarily engaged in three main operating divisions namely, Burn-In and 
Related Services, Burn-In Boards and Boards Related Products and Engineering Services and 
Equipment Distribution.

During the year, the Burn-In and Related Services and Engineering Services and Equipment Distribution 
divisions were consolidated into a single division, namely Engineering Services, to enhance manpower 
utilisation and improve operational efficiency. The consolidation does not affect the scope of services 
previously provided by the two divisions. As a result of the consolidation of divisions, information 
reported to the chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing the performance of the operating divisions, is also based on a single combined Engineering 
Services division. The operating divisions are reported in a manner consistent with the change in 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

In line with the change in structure of segment reporting of the Group as set out above, segment 
revenues and results for the previous financial year as well as segment assets and liabilities as at 
30 June 2024 have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Principal activities of each reportable segment are as follows:

Burn-In Boards and Boards Related Products (“Manufacturing and PCBA Services”)

Manufacturing comprises the design and assembly of printed circuit boards used for Burn-In and 
reliability testing of IC chips.

Engineering Services

This includes system integration projects, equipment manufacturing, provision of technical services 
and distribution of third party products, and Burn-In service which is a process whereby the individual 
integrated circuit (“IC”) chips is stressed at high temperature to weed out any defects caused during 
the assembly process.
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31	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Segment revenue and expenses

Segment revenue and expenses are revenue and expenses reported in the consolidated 
financial statements that either are directly attributable to a segment or can be allocated on 
a reasonable basis to a segment.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
policies described in Note 2. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment 
without allocation of central administration costs, rental income, interest revenue and interest 
expense, and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision 
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

(b)	 Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets are all operating assets that are employed by a segment in its operating 
activities and are either directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment 
on a reasonable basis.

Segment liabilities are all operating liabilities that are employed by a segment in its operating 
activities and are either directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment 
on a reasonable basis.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between 
segments, the chief operating decision maker monitors the assets attributable to each 
segment.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than financial assets of cash, fixed 
deposits, other receivables, and investments. Assets used jointly by reportable segments are 
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment:

Manufacturing and 
PCBA Services

Engineering  
Services Eliminations Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
External revenue 13,834 12,589 7,758 12,486 – – 21,592 25,075
Inter-segment revenue 1,468 1,383 617 732 (2,085) (2,115) – –

Total revenue 15,302 13,972 8,375 13,218 (2,085) (2,115) 21,592 25,075

Segment results 701 (31) (1,099) 1,906 – – (398) 1,875

Interest expense (16) (18)
Interest income 1,040 1,198
Rental income 515 475
Unallocated income 16 162
Unallocated expense (243) (308)

Profit before income tax 914 3,384
Income tax expense (251) (570)

Profit for the year 663 2,814
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31	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Assets and liabilities and other segment information

Manufacturing and 
PCBA Services Engineering Services Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets
Segment assets 12,263 9,098 7,069 10,221 19,332 19,319
Unallocated corporate assets 38,646 38,299

Total assets 57,978 57,618

Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities 3,455 2,150 1,889 2,150 5,344 4,300
Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,739 1,797

Total liabilities 7,083 6,097

Other information
Additions to non-current assets 78 307 22 327 100 634
Impairment loss on associate included in 

unallocated expenses – 171

Depreciation
Allocated 838 709 472 709 1,310 1,418

Geographical segments

The Group operates in five principal geographical areas namely, Singapore, USA, China, Malaysia 
and Philippines.

The revenue by geographical segments are based on location of customers. Segment assets 
(non-current assets excluding financial assets) with carrying amount of $10,785,000 (2024: $12,468,000) 
are based on the geographical location of the assets and capital expenditure which is in Singapore 
(country of domicile).

2025 2024
$’000 $’000

Revenue from external customers
Singapore 3,086 6,735
USA 8,857 9,294
China 4,266 3,667
Malaysia 1,961 3,042
Philippines 1,849 1,522
Others(1) 1,573 815

21,592 25,075

(1)	 Includes Switzerland, Germany, Taiwan and Vietnam.
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31	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

In 2025, included in revenue of $21,592,000 is revenue of $4,981,000 arising from sales to two major 
customers from the Engineering Services business segment, and revenue of $4,850,000 arising from 
sales to two major customers from the Manufacturing and PCBA Services business segment. These 
revenues account for approximately 36% of the Group’s revenue.

In 2024, included in revenue of $25,075,000 was revenue of $5,444,000 arising from sales to a 
major customer from the Manufacturing and PCBA Services business segment and Engineering 
Services business segment, revenue of $2,736,000 arising from sales to a major customer from the 
Manufacturing and PCBA business segment, and revenue of $4,844,000 arising from sales to a major 
customer from the Engineering Services business segment. These revenues account for approximately 
52% of the Group’s revenue.
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDERS
NO. OF 

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %
1 – 99 11 0.77 596 0.00
100 – 1,000 206 14.43 131,938 0.08
1,001 – 10,000 521 36.48 3,218,547 1.88
10,001 – 1,000,000 669 46.85 50,746,658 29.67
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 21 1.47 116,948,302 68.37
TOTAL 1,428 100.00 171,046,041 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
1 LIM ENG HONG 49,477,875 28.93
2 LOH ZEE LAN NANCY 10,295,000 6.02
3 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 6,563,289 3.84
4 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 5,700,827 3.33
5 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 5,262,080 3.08
6 TSIA HAH TONG 4,274,650 2.50
7 PROVIDENCE INVESTMENTS PTE LTD 4,082,500 2.39
8 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 3,667,200 2.14
9 ESTATE OF FONG CHING LOON, DECEASED 2,900,000 1.70

10 KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD 2,891,200 1.69
11 LIM WEI LING ELAINE 2,840,000 1.66
12 SHIH KAW @ CHEW LIAN KWEI 2,750,100 1.61
13 LEW WING KIT 2,548,000 1.49
14 IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD. 2,306,300 1.35
15 KHO BOON PENG 2,297,250 1.34
16 HENG SIEW ENG 2,259,200 1.32
17 KOH CHOON NAM 1,867,300 1.09
18 YONG SER SEN 1,768,610 1.03
19 CHOO SIEW KHEUN 1,101,100 0.64
20 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 1,061,221 0.62

TOTAL 115,913,702 67.77

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

NAME Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
LIM ENG HONG 49,477,875 28.93% 13,135,000 7.68%
LOH ZEE LAN NANCY 10,295,000 6.02%

Approximately 63.17% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the 
Company has complied with Rule 723 of the listing manual of the SGX-ST.

Treasury share = Nil

Subsidiary holdings = Nil
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM” or “Meeting”) of Avi-Tech Holdings 
Limited (the “Company”) will be convened and held at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 
554859 on Tuesday, 28 October 2025 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 
for the year ended 30 June 2025 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.� (Resolution 1)

2.	 To re-elect as Director Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin who is retiring pursuant to Regulation 104(2) of the 
Company’s Constitution and Rule 720(5) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).
[See explanatory note (i)]� (Resolution 2)

3.	 To re-elect as Director Mr Tan Ka Huat who is retiring pursuant to Regulation 104(2) of the Company’s 
Constitution and Rule 720(5) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
[See explanatory note (ii)]� (Resolution 3)

4.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$150,000 for the year ended 30 June 2025. (FY2024: 
S$150,000)� (Resolution 4)

5.	 To approve the final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.25 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 
30 June 2025.� (Resolution 5)

6.	 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to 
fix their remuneration.� (Resolution 6)

7.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution, with or without 
modifications:

8.	 Authority to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) and 
Rule 806 of the Listing Manual (“Listing Manual”) of the SGX-ST, authority be and is hereby given to 
the Directors of the Company to allot and issue:

(a)	 shares; or

(b)	 convertible securities; or

(c)	 additional convertible securities issued pursuant to Rule 829 of the Listing Manual (notwithstanding 
that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force at the time the 
additional securities are issued, provided that the adjustment does not give the holder a benefit 
that a shareholder does not receive); or
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(d)	 shares arising from the conversion of the securities in (b) and (c) above (notwithstanding that 
the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force at the time the shares 
are to be issued),

	 in the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) at any time to such persons and 
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute 
discretion deem fit, provided that:

(i)	 the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be allotted and issued 
pursuant to this Resolution must be not more than 50% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (calculated in accordance with 
(ii) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities issued 
other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders must be not more than 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company 
(calculated in accordance with (ii) below); and

(ii)	 (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose 
of determining the number of shares and convertible securities that may be issued pursuant 
to (i) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be calculated based on the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the 
time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion 
or exercise of convertible securities; (b) new shares arising from exercising share options 
or vesting of share awards provided the options or awards were granted in compliance 
with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual; and (c) any subsequent bonus issue, 
consolidation or subdivision of shares. Adjustments in accordance with (a) or (b) are only 
to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share options or 
share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing 
of this Resolution.

Unless revoked or varied by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, 
this Resolution shall remain in force until the conclusion of the next AGM or the date by which the next 
AGM is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.
[See explanatory note (iii)]� (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board
Adrian Chan Pengee
Company Secretary

Singapore
6 October 2025
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Explanatory Notes:

(i)	 Resolution 2 – Detailed information about Directors of the Company can be found in the “Board of Directors” section of the 
Company’s Annual Report, including their current directorships in other listed companies and other principal commitments 
held. Please also refer to the section titled “Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-Election” appended to this Notice 
of Annual General Meeting for additional information on Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin. Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin will, upon re-election as 
a Director of the Company, continue to serve as Executive Director of the Company.

(ii)	 Resolution 3 – Detailed information about Directors of the Company can be found in the “Board of Directors” section of the 
Company’s Annual Report, including their current directorships in other listed companies and other principal commitments 
held. Please also refer to the section titled “Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-Election” appended to this Notice 
of Annual General Meeting for additional information on Mr Tan Ka Huat. Mr Tan Ka Huat will, upon re-election as a Director 
of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee, and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
Remuneration Committee, and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual. Save that 
he is an Independent Director of the Company, Mr Tan Ka Huat has no relationships including immediate family relationships 
with any of the Directors, the Company, its related corporations or its substantial shareholders.

(iii)	 Resolution 7 – If passed, this Resolution will empower the Directors from the date of the above meeting until the date of the next 
AGM, to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding 50% of the total number 
of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares), of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro 
rata basis.

Notes:

1.	 The AGM is being convened, in a wholly physical format, at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 554859 on 
Tuesday, 28 October 2025 at 11:00 a.m.. There will be no option for shareholders to participate virtually. Printed copies of the 
Notice of Annual General Meeting and the Proxy Form will be sent to shareholders. Printed copies of the Annual Report and 
Sustainability Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (the “FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports”) will not be 
sent to shareholders. Instead, the FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports may be accessed at the Company’s website at 
the URL http://www.avi-tech.com.sg. The FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports are also available on SGXNET at the URL 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. Nonetheless, shareholders who wish to obtain a printed copy of the 
FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports may complete, sign and return the enclosed request form to the Company to make an 
appointment during ordinary business hours to collect the FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports at the Company’s office at 
19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 554859.

2.	 Save for members of the Company which are nominee companies or Relevant Intermediaries (as defined below), a member of 
the Company entitled to attend, speak and vote at a meeting of the Company shall not be entitled to appoint more than two 
proxies to attend, speak and vote on his behalf. Where a member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary) appoints 
more than one proxy, he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

3.	 Pursuant to Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act, any member who is a Relevant Intermediary may appoint more than two proxies, 
but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by him (which number and 
class of shares shall be specified). “Relevant Intermediary” means: (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 
1970 of Singapore or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; (b) a 
capital markets services license holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 
of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or (c) the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board, established by the Central 
Provident Fund Act 1953 of Singapore, in respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing 
for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the CPF, if the CPF Board 
holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

4.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5.	 The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

a.	 if submitted by post, be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 
Singapore 554859; or

b.	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email in Portable Document Format (PDF) format to the Company at 
ir@avi-tech.com.sg.

in either case, at least 72 hours before the time fixed for holding the AGM. A member who wishes to submit the Proxy Form must 
first complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or by scanning and submitting 
it by way of electronic means via email to the email address provided above.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its Common 
Seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorized officer.
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7.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered against his/her name 
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not 
shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the 
meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

8.	 A Depositor’s name must appear on the Depository Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited as at 72 hours 
before the time fixed for holding the meeting in order for the Depositor to be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting.

9.	 CPF or SRS investors who wish to vote should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 
11:00 a.m. on 15 October 2025.

10.	 Members will be able to ask questions during the AGM. Nevertheless, all members may submit questions related to the resolutions to 
be tabled for approval at the AGM by email to ir@avi-tech.com.sg, or in hard copy by post to the registered office of the Company 
at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, Singapore 554859, by no later than 11:00 a.m. on Friday, 17 October 2025. The Company will 
endeavour to respond to the substantial and relevant questions by 22 October 2025, 11:00 a.m. and publish its responses on 
SGXNET and on the Company’s website at the URL http://avitech.listedcompany.com/#investors.

11.	 Minutes of the AGM will be published on SGXNET and the Company’s website within one month after the date of the AGM.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:

Photographic, sound and/or video recordings may be made by the Company at the meeting for record keeping and to ensure the 
accuracy of the minutes prepared. Accordingly, your personal data (such as your name, your presence at this meeting and any 
questions you may raise or motions you propose/second) may be recorded by the Company for such purpose. The Company may 
upon the request of any shareholder and in accordance with the Companies Act, provide such shareholder with a copy of the minutes 
of meeting, which may contain your personal data as explained herein. By participating in the meeting, raising any questions and/or 
proposing/seconding any motion, you will be deemed to have consented to have your personal data recorded and dealt with for the 
purposes and in the manner explained herein.

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company 
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company thereby: (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis by 
the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the meeting (including any adjournment 
thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the meeting (including 
any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing 
rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of 
the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the 
prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service 
providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify 
the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-Election 

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST

Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin and Mr Tan Ka Huat are the retiring Directors who are seeking re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM to be convened on 28 October 2025 under Ordinary Resolutions 2 and 3 as set out in 
the Notice of AGM dated 6 October 2025. 

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the information relating to the aforementioned 
persons seeking re-election, in accordance with Appendix 7.4.1 to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, is set 
out below:

Lim Tai Meng Alvin Tan Ka Huat

Date of initial appointment 
(including as a director of 
Avi-Tech Electronics Limited, 
where applicable) 

1 August 2018  30 October 2023

Date of last re-appointment  
(if applicable)

30 October 2023 N.A.

Age 49 73

Country of principal residence Singapore Singapore

The Board’s comments on 
this appointment (including 
rationale, selection criteria, 
board diversity considerations, 
and the search and nomination 
process)

The Board had considered 
the Nominating Committee’s 
recommendation and assessment 
on Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin’s 
commitment in the discharge of his 
duties as a Director, inter alia, and 
is satisfied that he will continue to 
contribute to the Board.

The Board had considered 
the Nominating Committee’s 
recommendation and assessment 
on Mr Tan Ka Huat’s independence 
and commitment in the discharge 
of his duties as a Director, inter 
alia, and is satisfied that he will 
continue to contribute to the 
Board.

Whether appointment is 
executive, and if so, the area of 
responsibility

Executive. Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin 
is the Chief Operating Officer 
of the Group. Mr Lim Tai Meng 
Alvin is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s operations for 
Manufacturing and PCBA Services 
and Engineering Services, and 
also develops the competitive 
positioning and strategies of the 
Group.

Non-executive.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC 
Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Chief Operating Officer and 
Executive Director

Non-Executive Independent 
Director.

Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee, and Member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.

Professional qualifications Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.
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Lim Tai Meng Alvin Tan Ka Huat

Working experience and 
occupation(s) during the past 
10 years

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Shareholding interest in the 
in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

No.

Any relationship (including 
immediate family relationships) 
with any existing director, 
existing executive officer, 
the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed 
issuer or of any of its principal 
subsidiaries

Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin is the son 
of Mr Lim Eng Hong, an Executive 
Director and the Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive Chairman of 
the Company.

No.

Conflict of interest (including 
any competing business)

Nil Nil

Undertaking (in the form set out 
in Appendix 7.7) under Rule 
720(1) has been submitted to 
the listed issuer

Yes. Yes.

Other Principal Commitments including Directorships

Past (for the last 5 years) Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Present Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Please refer to the section of the 
Company’s Annual Report entitled 
“Board of Directors” for further 
details.

Information Required

Whether at any time during the 
last 10 years, an application or 
a petition under any bankruptcy 
law of any jurisdiction was 
filed against him or against a 
partnership of which he was a 
partner at the time when he was 
a partner or at any time within 2 
years from the date he ceased 
to be a partner?

No. No.
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Lim Tai Meng Alvin Tan Ka Huat

Whether at any time during the 
last 10 years, an application or 
a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an 
entity (not being a partnership) 
of which he was a director or 
an equivalent person or a key 
executive, at the time when he 
was a director or an equivalent 
person or a key executive of 
that entity or at any time 
within 2 years from the date 
he ceased to be a director or 
an equivalent person or a key 
executive of that entity, for the 
winding up or dissolution of that 
entity or, where that entity is the 
trustee of a business trust, that 
business trust, on the ground of 
insolvency?

No. No.

Whether there is any unsatisfied 
judgment against him?

No. No.

Whether he has ever been 
convicted of any offence, 
in Singapore or elsewhere, 
involving fraud or dishonesty 
which is punishable with 
imprisonment, or has been 
the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings 
of which he is aware) for such 
purpose?

No. No.

Whether he has ever been 
convicted of any offence, 
in Singapore or elsewhere, 
involving a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or has been 
the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings 
of which he is aware) for such 
breach?

No. No.
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Lim Tai Meng Alvin Tan Ka Huat

Whether at any time during 
the last 10 years, judgment 
has been entered against 
him in any civil proceedings 
in Singapore or elsewhere 
involving a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or 
elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty 
on his part, or he has been the 
subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil 
proceedings of which he is 
aware) involving an allegation 
of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No. No.

Whether he has ever been 
convicted in Singapore or 
elsewhere of any offence in 
connection with the formation 
or management of any entity or 
business trust?

No. No.

Whether he has ever been 
disqualified from acting as 
a director or an equivalent 
person of any entity (including 
the trustee of a business trust), 
or from taking part directly or 
indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business trust?

No. No.

Whether he has ever been 
the subject of any order, 
judgment or ruling of any court, 
tribunal or governmental body, 
permanently or temporarily 
enjoining him from engaging 
in any type of business practice 
or activity?

No. No.

Whether he has ever, to his 
knowledge, been concerned 
with the management or 
conduct, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i)	 any corporation which 
has been investigated for a 
breach of any law or regulatory 
requ i rement  govern ing 
corporations in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

No. No.
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Lim Tai Meng Alvin Tan Ka Huat

(ii)	 any entity (not being a 
corporation) which has been 
investigated for a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
governing such entities in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

No. No.

(iii)	 any business trust which 
has been investigated for a 
breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing business 
trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; 
or

No. No.

(iv)	 any entity or business 
trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any 
law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or 
elsewhere,

No. No.

in connection with any matter 
occurring or arising during 
that period when he was so 
concerned with the entity or 
business trust?

Whether he has been the 
subject of any current or past 
investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been 
reprimanded or issued any 
warning, by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any 
other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional body or 
government agency, whether in 
Singapore or elsewhere?

No. No. 
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FINAL DIVIDEND

NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN in the Company’s announcement of 26 August 2025 that the Transfer Books and 
Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 10 November 2025 for the preparation of the one-
tier tax exempt final dividend to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
on 28 October 2025.

Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., of 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632, up to 
5:00 p.m. on 7 November 2025 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlements to the one-tier 
tax exempt final dividend. Members whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited 
are credited with shares at 5:00 p.m. on 7 November 2025 will be entitled to the proposed final dividend.

The proposed final dividend, if approved at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 28 November 2025.
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PROXY FORM
2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Company Registration Number 202002889W)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT:

1.	 A Relevant Intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend, 
speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting (please see Note 4 for 
the definition of “Relevant Intermediary”).

2.	 For CPF/SRS investors who have used their CPF/SRS monies to 
acquire shares in the capital of Avi-Tech Holdings Limited, this form 
of proxy is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and 
purposes if used or purported to be used by them. CPF/SRS investors 
should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators if 
they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.

I/We,  (Name),

 (NRIC/Passport No./Co. Reg. No.),

of  (Address)
being a member/members of AVI-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport  
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport  
Number

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to attend, speak and to vote for me/us 
on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 19A Serangoon North 
Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 554859 on Tuesday, 28 October 2025 at 11:00 a.m. and at any adjournment 
thereof. The proxy(ies) is/are to vote on the business before the Meeting as indicated below. If no specific 
direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion, 
as he/she will on any other matter arising at the Meeting.

Please indicate your vote “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” with a “✓” or an “X” within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against Abstain

1. Adoption of Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial 
Statements together with the Auditor’s Report thereon

2. Re-election of Mr Lim Tai Meng Alvin as a Director

3. Re-election of Mr Tan Ka Huat as a Director

4. Approval of Directors’ Fees

5. Approval of proposed final dividend

6. Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors

7. General mandate to Directors to issue shares

Dated this  day of  2025

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

CDP Register

Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s)/or
Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder(s)



Notes:
1.	 The AGM is being convened, in a wholly physical format, at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 554859 on 

Tuesday, 28 October 2025 at 11:00 a.m.. There will be no option for shareholders to participate virtually. Printed copies of the 
Notice of Annual General Meeting and the Proxy Form will be sent to shareholders. Printed copies of the Annual Report and 
Sustainability Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (the “FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports”) will not be 
sent to shareholders. Instead, the FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports may be accessed at the Company’s website at 
the URL http://www.avi-tech.com.sg. The FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports are also available on SGXNET at the URL 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. Nonetheless, shareholders who wish to obtain a printed copy of the 
FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports may complete, sign and return the enclosed request form to the Company to make an 
appointment during ordinary business hours to collect the FY2025 Annual and Sustainability Reports at the Company’s office at 
19A Serangoon North Avenue 5, 6th floor, Singapore 554859.

2.	 Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore) (the “SFA”), you should insert that number of 
shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you 
have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate 
number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. 
If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

3.	 Save for members of the Company which are nominee companies or Relevant Intermediaries (as defined below), a member of the 
Company entitled to attend, speak and vote at a meeting of the Company shall not be entitled to appoint more than two proxies 
to attend, speak and vote on his behalf. Where a member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary) appoints more 
than one proxy, he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

4.	 Pursuant to Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”), any member who is a Relevant 
Intermediary may appoint more than two proxies, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different 
share or shares held by him (which number and class of shares shall be specified). “Relevant Intermediary” means: (a) a banking 
corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 of Singapore or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides nominee services 
and who holds shares in that capacity; (b) a capital markets services license holder which provides custodial services for securities 
under the SFA and who holds shares in that capacity; or (c) the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board, established by the Central 
Provident Fund Act 1953 of Singapore, in respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act 
providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the CPF, if the 
CPF Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

5.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

6.	 The Proxy Form must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:

a.	 if submitted by post, be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 19A Serangoon North Avenue 5 
Singapore 554859; or

b.	 if submitted electronically, be submitted via email in Portable Document Format (PDF) format to the Company at 
ir@avi-tech.com.sg.

in either case, at least 72 hours before the time fixed for holding the AGM. A member who wishes to submit the Proxy Form 
must first complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or by scanning and 
submitting it by way of electronic means via email to the email address provided above.

7.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its Common 
Seal or executed under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorized officer.

8.	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of 
attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of 
proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

9.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks 
fit to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act.

10.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of a member whose shares are entered against his/her name 
in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such member, being the appointor, is not 
shown to have shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register 72 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

11.	 A Depositor’s name must appear on the Depository Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited as at 72 hours 
before the time fixed for holding the meeting in order for the Depositor to be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting.

Personal Data Privacy:
Photographic, sound and/or video recordings may be made by the Company at the meeting for record keeping and to ensure the 
accuracy of the minutes prepared. Accordingly, your personal data (such as your name, your presence at this meeting and any 
questions you may raise or motions you propose/second) may be recorded by the Company for such purpose. The Company may 
upon the request of any shareholder and in accordance with the Companies Act, provide such shareholder with a copy of the minutes 
of meeting, which may contain your personal data as explained herein. By participating in the meeting, raising any questions and/or 
proposing/seconding any motion, you will be deemed to have consented to have your personal data recorded and dealt with for the 
purposes and in the manner explained herein.

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company 
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company thereby: (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration and analysis by 
the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the meeting (including any adjournment 
thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the meeting (including 
any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing 
rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data 
of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained 
the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or 
service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member 
will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s 
breach of warranty.
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